## KATHOLIEKE UNIVERSITEIT LEUVEN – FACULTY OF LAW

European Master's Degree in Human Rights and Democratisation A.Y. 2013/2014

## Getting down to business:

The implementation of the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights and ways forward for Corporate Human Rights Responsibility

Author: Inês Carreirinho de Miranda

Supervisor: Charline Daelman



## Acknowledgments

I am extremely grateful to my mother, my brother and my uncle for their constant support and encouragement. Also a word to all the friends that, with their patience and presence, enhanced my energy to deal with the challenges faced during this year.

I am extremely grateful to my supervisor, Charline Daelman, for all the interest and devotion towards my work and for the constant support.

Finally, I would like to thank everyone that supported and inspired me during the Master's (colleagues, new friends, academic staff), to the Human Rights Institute of KU Leuven for the way we were received and, in particular, to Michaël Merrigan, for all his help and availability towards the Leuven Masterini.

#### **Abstract**

Multiple cases of negative impacts of business activity on human rights came to light in recent years and with them also the lack of proper regulative frameworks, monitoring and grievance mechanisms for corporate related human rights abuses. In June 2011, the Human Rights Council endorsed the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, a non-binding document aiming to enhance corporate respect for human rights and the mechanisms accessible to victims of abuses.

This did not represent the end of the debate regarding business responsibilities. The calls for a binding instrument and for stronger mechanisms to ensure compliance are still a reality, just like the claims that a binding instrument is not the proper avenue to follow to have effective progress in the field.

The aim of this thesis is to contribute to the understanding and to the debate of business and human rights by providing a comprehensive overview of the challenges and ways forward. This is done, on the one hand by analysing the current framework (with a focus on the Guiding Principles) and by gathering different implementation avenues that can lead to increased accountability. On the other hand, it looks into prospective developments, grounded on the idea that this is not a settled field and that the debate for possible complementary solutions is essential to achieve progress.

## **Table of contents**

I.	Introduction	1
II. abou	The framework on Business and Human Rights and how the UNGPs ca	
1.	. The normative framework	6
	a) OECD Guidelines on Multinational Enterprises and National Compoints	
	b) ILO's Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multination Enterprises and Social Policy	
	c) UN Global Compact	.12
2. hi	. Grievance mechanisms or the quest for remedy for corporate relauman rights abuses	
	a) International Level: The United Nations Treaty Bodies	.15
	b) Regional Level: The European Court of Human Rights	.18
	c) National Level: National Jurisdictions	.22
3.	. Interim conclusions – issues and weaknesses of the framework	.24
	The United Nations Guiding Principles – a new instrument on Business and Rights	
1.	The UNGPs in theory	.26
2.	The UNGPs in action	.31
	a) States' duty to protect – <i>How to better protect?</i>	.32
	b) Companies' responsibility to respect – <i>How to fulfil?</i>	.42
	c) Providing access to remedy – How to enhance accountability?	.56
3.	Interim conclusions	.58
IV.	Prospective developments	.60
1.	. A legally binding instrument on Business and Human Rights?	.61
2. pi	. Interim measures: International and Regional Institutions – rethink riorities and mandates	_
	a) International level: The United Nations structure	.68
	b) Regional level: the Council of Europe and the European Union	.74
	c) National level: National Human Rights Institutions	.80
V.	Conclusion	.85
VI.	Bibliography	.89

## **Table of Abbreviations and Acronyms**

ATCA Alien Tort Claims Act

CESCR Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights

CRC Committee on the Rights of the Child

CRC GC16 General Comment No.16 (2013) on State obligations regarding the impact

of the business sector on children's rights

CoE Council of Europe

CSO Civil Society Organisation

ECHR Convention for the Protection on Human Rights and Fundamental

Freedoms (European Convention on Human Rights)

ECtHR European Court of Human Rights

EU European Union

GP Guiding Principle

HRC Human Rights Council

HRDD Human Rights Due Diligence

ICJ International Commission of Jurists

ILO International Labour Organisation

NCP National Contact Point

NGO Non-governmental Organisation

NHRIs National Human Rights Institutions

OECD Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development

OHCHR Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights

SRSG United Nations Special Representative of the Secretary-General on

the issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other

business enterprises

UN United Nations

UNGC United Nations Global Compact

UNGPs United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights

UNSG United Nations Secretary-General

UNTB United Nations Treaty Body

WG Working Group on the issue of human rights and transnational

corporations and other business enterprises

## I. Introduction

Where were you on 24 April 2013? Where were you on 3 December 1984? It is likely that you do not remember. It is even likely that these dates do not recall any particular event. Those were, respectively, the days of the Rana Plaza collapse in Bangladesh and of the "most deadly industrial disaster in history" - the Bhopal disaster in India. These days represent moments in which the world was shocked with events that disclosed the capacity of the business sector to have a negative impact on human rights. Although, such impacts do not happen only in India or in Bangladesh and do not always capture worldwide attention. Silent but serious violations of human rights by companies happen every day all around the world. They are happening, even if we do not listen to anything about them, even if we do not see an image that captures human suffering.

Nowadays, very few people would argue that corporations cannot have an impact on human rights. This is not a new reality but the increased flows of information, ability to easily move around the world, and other features of globalisation helped to disclose abuses and raised attention to this reality. Just as they facilitate negative impacts of business on human rights. With increasing economic power and mobility beyond borders it is not hard to escape regulation in order to maximize profit.

Nonetheless, the business sector has multiple positive impacts on society and can (in some cases already has) the potential to foster human rights and development. The main issue is what can you do when the opposite happens? It is much harder to refer to a date on which a corporation was held responsible for violating human rights as such. Usually, cases of human rights violations by corporations are addressed reactively: a dramatic event happens or is disclosed, community gets chocked, corporations try to react in order to restrict the damage to their own image (either by repelling their connection to the facts, by hiding behind complex legal structures or by trying to create initiatives that would refresh their image). Preventative culture is still not the rule.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ruggie, 2013, p.6.

Companies are subjected to the national jurisdictions of the States where they operate and States have the obligation to protect human rights of people by enacting the necessary laws, regulations, policies and remedies to abuses of third parties. Although, reality keeps proving that this is not enough and that new thinking and action is needed, sometimes involving levels higher than the national.

The topic of human rights and business remains a troubling issue in an international system that was designed by and for States and that intended to protect the individual from the actions of States, understood to be more powerful and to have an increased capacity of action (for the good and for the bad). Nowadays, it is clear that such power (political, economical, social...) is not exclusive for them. Non-state actors can and do have an impact on peoples' lives and dignity. Business actors are no exception.

The first question that people should ask when thinking about business and human rights is: if your human rights, the ones based on human dignity, the basic guarantees of all human beings, are violated and you suffer the consequences of such violation, does it really matter if it was the fault of the State or corporation? I would guess that the answer is no. In fact, if you are the victim of a corporate-related human rights abuse, it is likely that both the State and the corporation(s) have responsibilities. The first because it failed to protect you, either by providing appropriate regulation or effective monitoring and remedies; either by inability or by unwillingness. The second because, directly or indirectly, took advantage of the lack of regulation and monitoring or escaped the existent mechanisms.

The whole problem gets even more intricate if you think about corporations that act beyond borders, with multiple subsidiaries, hundreds of suppliers... Multinationals often find operating contexts that are weak in terms of governance, rule of law and human rights standards. Even if you are well intentioned, dilemmas and challenges are likely to become reality. If you are not, then you have an opportunity to maximise profit at the cost of human dignity.

The problem is clear but what about solutions? The solutions for the issues posed by human rights violations by business are fragmented and lack coherence. Until recently, there was no common standard at the international level addressing the issue. Regional or thematic initiatives were in place but business and human rights as a whole was not a topic deserving action at the international level (which is reflected in the rejection of different initiatives at the United Nations). A change in this pathway culminated in 2011 with the end of the mandate of the Special Representative of the Secretary General on the issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises (SRSG), Professor John Ruggie and the unanimous endorsement by the Human Rights Council (HRC) of the Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights (UNGPs).

Based on the previous, this thesis intends to question the current system of regulation of business and human rights based on two main focus points: first, how can the Guiding Principles be effectively implemented and what are the challenges they raise; second, taking into account the state of play, what can be done to make the system more effective and reliable – in sum, what are the prospective developments in the field.

In order to answer these questions, the thesis will first guide you through the current framework regarding business and human rights, with a particular focus on the UNGPs. It intends to provide an understanding on the pathways that can be followed to implement the Guiding Principles. Implementing this new standard, in a system that remains State-centred, where the political will and the pressure from economic power have an important role is not an easy task Furthermore, implementation is not easy because, despite the reality not being a new one, the responses to the problems are still in their first steps and sometimes it is not clear for the different stakeholders how they should act. This first task will be made with a critical analysis of the content of the UNGPs, followed by a gathering of relevant implementation proposals.

Finally, I will assess the challenges that remain in business and human rights. Based on the idea, expressed multiple times by the former SRSG himself, that the UNGPs (and, more broadly, his mandate) was just "the end of the beginning" it is important to understand what can and what should be done in the future to increase the clarity of the human rights obligations of business and to achieve meaningful enforcement. In this context, I will analyse different possibilities of action, taking into account not only long-term, but also medium and short-term action.

Apart from the opinion that one can have regarding the content, relevance and potential of the UNGPs, more action is needed, at different levels, with multiple techniques and strategies to move business and human rights forward. And these are not only academic or theoretical discussions. Just a few days ago, during the 26<sup>th</sup> Session of the HRC, business and human rights was one of the discussed topics. Two resolutions regarding the future of business and human rights with different contents were adopted.

My expectation is that this thesis can contribute to the understanding and to the debate of business and human rights by providing a comprehensive overview of the challenges and possible ways forward in this area.

# II. The framework on Business and Human Rights and how the UNGPs came about

The concerns about the impacts of business in human rights are not new. The increasing relevance of business enterprises in the globalised world, allied to the emergence of multiple cases of corporate human rights abuses lead to various normative initiatives. Therefore, there is a context, both normative and factual, in which the UNGPs came about that has to be clarified in order to understand the document and the challenges ahead.

There are currently no binding instruments of international law addressing directly the responsibilities of companies in the human rights field. Although the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) calls on all the "actors of society" to foster human rights it can only be seen as a sign of "aspiration" and not as a direct source of binding obligations towards companies. Regarding other treaties and conventions, every time that business and, more generally, private actors are referred to, the related obligations are directed towards the States parties, in the context of their duty to protect<sup>3</sup>. Therefore, much of the normative developments so far have occurred in the domain of soft-law, meaning instruments that are not legally binding. Examples of such normative initiatives are the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises<sup>4</sup> (the only instrument that also comprises a monitoring mechanism, the National Contact Points, hereinafter NCPs) and the International Labour Organisation's (ILO) Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises<sup>5</sup>.

There is also a tendency by companies to develop and adhere to voluntary standards. This type of initiatives is often pointed out by the business sector as the proper avenue to increase compliance of corporations with human rights and is

<sup>3</sup> Ruggie, 2013, pp.39-44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Deva, 2014, p.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Text of the Guidelines is available at <a href="http://www.oecd.org/daf/inv/mne/48004323.pdf">http://www.oecd.org/daf/inv/mne/48004323.pdf</a> (last consulted 24 May 2014).

The text of the Declaration is available at <a href="http://www.ilo.org/empent/Publications/WCMS">http://www.ilo.org/empent/Publications/WCMS</a> 094386/lang--en/index.htm (last consulted 24 May 2014).

based on the idea of voluntary commitments and actions. Multiple examples could be used to illustrate the different pathways that have been followed in this field but I will analyse the United Nations Global Compact (UNGC) due to the direct involvement of the United Nations (UN) in the structure. The choice to analyse these soft-law (the Guidelines and the Tripartite Declaration) and voluntary (UNGC) initiatives relates to their international and public nature<sup>6</sup> and also with their impact in the field of study. It is not the aim of this thesis to scrutinize each of these documents/initiatives but, in order to contextualize the normative framework governing business and human rights, their content, goals and scopes of application will be analysed.

One first element to retain is that none of the two above mentioned normative documents, neither the UNGC, focus exclusively on human rights. They intend to cover a broader field which is often referred to as "business ethics". This means that they include a wider scope of fields and policies that are often related to the social image of a company and that are linked to its social responsibility. Human rights appear as a part of this broader scenario.

#### 1. The normative framework

## a) OECD Guidelines on Multinational Enterprises and National Contact Points

Adopted in 1976 and last updated in 2011, the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (hereafter the Guidelines) are supported by states and the only normative framework with its own dispute resolution mechanism, the NCPs. The Guidelines were negotiated in the context of the OECD and represent a set of recommendations issued by the adhering governments to the multinationals based on their territory or developing activities there<sup>7</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As an example of a different type of initiative, we can mention ISO 26000. For more information on the norm: <a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/home/standards/iso26000.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/home/standards/iso26000.htm</a> (last consulted 2 May 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Theuws, Huijstee, 2013, p.10.

The Guidelines have a restricted geographical scope of application: the thirty-four State parties to the OECD and eight more<sup>8</sup> that adhered to the OECD Declaration on International Investment and Multinational Enterprises (in which the Guidelines are integrated).

Human rights are only one of the topics covered by the Guidelines as they also address fields like anti-corruption, employment and environment, among others. The chapter focusing exclusively on human rights was added in the 2011 revision of the Guidelines, aligning the framework with the UNGPs that were issued meanwhile<sup>9</sup>. The obligations of enterprises in this context can be summarized as follows: to respect and to avoid to cause or to contribute to human rights violations; to foster the prevention and mitigation of impacts of their activities; to establish a policy commitment and to conduct human rights due diligence (HRDD) and, finally, to have a role in remediation processes in cases where human rights violations occurred<sup>10</sup>.

Besides the obligation to promote the principles contained in the Guidelines, the adhering governments are also assumed to establish a NCP in order to further the promotion of the normative standard, to handle enquiries and to contribute to the resolution of implementation issues<sup>11</sup>. The specific organisation of the NCPs is determined by the States<sup>12</sup>, taking into account the so-called "core criteria" - *visibility*, *accessibility*, *transparency* and *accountability*<sup>13</sup>.

These institutions do not have a judicial nature but they can conduct a specific instances procedure (not judicial, based on consent and non-adversarial<sup>14</sup>) in order to provide a solution to allegations of non-compliance with the Guidelines. Such a procedure only occurs with the common agreement of the parties involved and has

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Chile, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Korea, Luxembourg, Mexico, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, United Kingdom and United States (members of the OECD) and Argentina, Brazil, Egypt, Latvia, Lithuania, Morocco, Peru and Romania.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> OECD Watch, 2013, p.18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Idem, p.19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> OECD p.68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Different examples of organizational options can be found in OECD Watch, 2013, p.33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> OECD, 2014, p.12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> OECD, 2014, p.13.

a confidential nature (during the good offices phase)<sup>15</sup>. In order to a NCP to be able to deal with a case, it is necessary that a complaint is filed and that the parties give their consent. Complaints can be filed by any interested party<sup>16</sup>, against any corporation headquartered or operating in one of the States parties. There is no need to associate the complaint with a concrete victim but rather to identify the protected interests in jeopardy<sup>17</sup>.

A peer review system of the activities of the NCPs was recently started (as a result of the 2011 review of the Guidelines<sup>18</sup>). Up until now, only the Japanese and the Norwegian NCPs were reviewed under this mechanism, (as they volunteered to do so).

## b) ILO's Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy

The first version of the ILO's Tripartite Declaration of Principles Concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (hereafter, Declaration), dates from 1977 and the last update from 2006. Besides recommendations on general business policies<sup>19</sup>, the Declaration addresses the principle of equality in employment practices, conditions of work and life (namely with provisions on wages, minimum age and safety and health) and industrial relations (where, for instance, the freedom of association and the right to organise are restated). The scope of its regulation is limited by ILO's scope of action and, therefore the norms focus on workers' rights. The Declaration is directed towards the different actors in the labour field: companies, governments and organizations of both employers and employees<sup>20</sup>.

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> OECD, 2014, p.13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Not necessarily a victim. Organizations and community representatives can also fill in complaints. - OECD Watch, 2013, p.33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> OECD Watch, 2013, p.35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> http://www.oecd.org/daf/inv/mne/ncps.htm (last consulted 26 June 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> For instance in the areas of employment and training.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> <u>http://www.ilo.org/empent/Publications/WCMS 094386/lang--en/index.htm</u> (last consulted 3 May 2014).

There are follow-up surveys to monitor the activities of the involved stakeholders regarding the Declaration.<sup>21</sup> The Declaration also includes a procedure to examine disputes regarding its application which aims to provide the adequate interpretation of its provisions.

Despite the limited scope of application (as it is only applicable to multinationals) and the restraints to the rights included in the Declaration, it represents an important attempt to call human rights (recognised rights in the field of labour) into business responsibilities. It also represents recognition of the issues raised by the action of enterprises operating beyond borders and the need for multinational companies to consider international human rights standards in their activities and operations wherever they take place.

To sum up, it is important to point out that both these normative frameworks show that it is clear that business corporations have a role in the human rights field, especially in the context of a globalized world. Both provide guidance and standards in order to increase the respect of corporations for human rights and emphasize the importance of conducting due diligence in that process.

However, there also have are limitations as they fail to establish a binding, effective and efficient system of regulation, monitoring and accountability of enterprises for violations of human rights in the realm of their activities. It is necessary to highlight some these limitations.

The OECD Guidelines have a limited geographical scope of application<sup>22</sup>. The ILO's Declaration has a clear focus on workers' rights and not on human rights in general, which is also insufficient to provide for a real scheme of human rights protection in the business field. Moreover, it only applies to multinational corporations. This means that both the initiatives have a limited scope. They do not provide a comprehensive basis for an overall framework of business and

http://www.ilo.org/empent/Informationresources/WCMS\_101251/lang--en/index.htm (last consulted 3 May 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Theuws, Huijstee, 2013, p.10.

human rights. Most importantly, none of these documents is binding or provides for a legally binding monitoring and accountability mechanism<sup>23</sup>.

All of these have important consequences that jeopardize the respect for human rights. First, there is no comprehensive normative framework that includes the whole realm of recognised human rights. Nowadays, it is clear that companies have the potential to impact all human rights with their operations. It is a fact that patterns can be identified (for instance based on the location of operations or on the activity sector)<sup>24</sup> but, in the end, each and every corporation can directly or indirectly be involved in violations of all human rights. Therefore, and taking also into account the indivisibility and interdependence of human rights, an effective and adequate normative framework has to apply a universal approach to human rights.

Second, business and human rights is a field in which geographically fragmented regulations risk to be problematic and not effective. States struggle to attract investment of private actors in order to promote the economic wealth in the country and want, as a consequence, to protect "their" companies. This is particularly visible in developing countries but also in countries facing economic and financial crisis which have been lowering their standards (namely in the field of labour rights) in order to be able to attract investors – it is the race to the bottom phenomenon at the most intense level. In addition, big corporations find it easy to move between different States or to delocalize their activities. This means that the lack of international common standards and effective implementation and monitoring mechanisms may lead to impunity.

Third, the inexistence of a binding standard is also problematic. We cannot ignore the current powers of corporations in the world. It is not rare to find companies that have more power (economical, political...) than a wide number of States. They act around the world and indeed have important social functions but they can also have a huge negative impact. More than that, they are nowadays entitled to rights both at the national and at the international levels. It is true that we

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> De la Vega, Mehra, Wong, 2011, p.4.<sup>24</sup> Ruggie, 2013.

cannot ignore that the inherent nature of companies is different to that of States but this does not mean that they should not be subjected to respect human rights. As stated in the UDHR, human rights are also a responsibility of the different organs of society and companies should not be an exception. The scope of the obligations might be open to discussion but strong standards are needed, even to make sure that responsible companies are not disadvantaged because of their choice to conduct their activities in a way that respects human rights standards.

Fourth, it should be stressed that not only multinational companies (i.e. companies that conduct operations or activities in states other than their home state) have the potential to impact human rights<sup>25</sup>. Some dangers are bigger in situations where companies headquartered in developed countries operate (both directly and indirectly) in States with poor human rights records, low income and weak legal standards/ law enforcement mechanisms or that are affected by conflict<sup>26</sup>. But we should also not fail to take into consideration violations caused by companies acting in their home State. Thus, there is a need for a standard that applies to all companies. In practice, different dimensions, capacities, leverages, activities and scopes can impact the particular obligations of a company but when we talk about business and human rights we should aim for a non-discriminatory standard. Non-discriminatory in the sense that all companies should be subjected to baseline requirements<sup>27</sup> and in the sense that such requirements protect individuals wherever the company's activity takes place<sup>28</sup>.

Finally, the strength of a normative framework will also depend on the mechanisms of implementation that it creates. This is a field in which disclosure of violations or inappropriate conduct has a particular impact (as the campaigns led by civil society against some brands associated to human rights violations show). But civil society cannot be the one and only watchdog of corporate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Which is clear if we take into account the states' duty to protect human rights.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Ruggie, 2013, pp.29-33.

Also reinforced in the General Principles of the UNGPs - Human Rights Council, *Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights – Implementing the United Nations Protecting, Respect and Remedy Framework*, HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, available at <a href="http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR\_EN.pdf">http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR\_EN.pdf</a> (last consulted 26 May 2014), p.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Idem, GP 11, p.13.

compliance with human rights. A monitoring mechanism is essential to make sure that there are not only standards but that compliance is also under scrutiny.

## c) UN Global Compact

In the field of voluntary initiatives, the UNGC deserves particular attention due to its close relationship with the UN. The UNGC was created in 2010, under the auspices of the UN Secretary-General (UNSG) at the time, Kofi Annan. It is defined as "a leadership platform for the development, implementation and disclosure of responsible and sustainable corporate policies and practices." The platform includes different actors, from governments to companies, from labour to civil society organisations. According to its official website<sup>30</sup>, it now counts "more than 10.000 participants, including 7.000 businesses in 145 countries around the world." According to the same source, the UN acts "as an authoritative convener and facilitator."

In order for an enterprise to adhere to the UNGC, its Chief Executive Officer must address a letter to the UNSG. Then, there are some expectations directed towards the members, such as the public endorsement of the principles and the publication of an annual report on the activities developed in order to respect and develop the principles in the organisation<sup>32</sup>. The members of the UNGC also have to make a financial contribution. The non-compliance with the annual communication on progress has as only consequence the change of state from active to non-communicating member (leading to delisting after two years).<sup>33</sup>

The UNGC is based on ten principles in four areas: human rights, labour, environment and anti-corruption. Principles one and two are devoted to human rights and took inspiration from the UDHR<sup>34</sup>. They read as follows:

<sup>32</sup> Deva, 2006(b), p.152.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> "United Nations Global Compact, 2014, p.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> <u>http://www.unglobalcompact.org/ParticipantsAndStakeholders/index.html</u> (last consulted 3 May 2014).

<sup>31</sup> Idem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> http://www.unglobalcompact.org/AboutTheGC/faq.html (last consulted 24 May 2014).

http://www.unglobalcompact.org/Issues/human rights/ (last consulted 3 May 2014).

"Principle 1 – Businesses should support and respect the protection of internationally proclaimed human rights."  $^{35}$ 

"Principle 2 – Business should make sure that they are not complicit in human rights abuses." <sup>36</sup>

It is clear from the wording of the principles that they are not precise and do not clarify what companies should do or how they should act to comply with them. Some documents have been released by the UNGC in order to provide some guidance but, according to some authors, the results are not completely satisfactory as they do not go as far as providing tools that help companies to find solutions to problematic situations<sup>37</sup>.

Several reflections should be raised about this initiative and its results. It is important to understand if the mere fact that this is a UN backed initiative is not furthering the social responsibility capital of its members, whether or not they actually comply with the principles and fulfil the aims of the UNGC. This issue is raised<sup>38</sup>, by three main factors. Firstly, the UN might be (directly or indirectly) promoting the image of companies that are not complying, in practice, with its aims and goals — as there is no monitoring system. This can also have important reputational risks for the organisation. Secondly, the UNGC will only be a serious and fostering forum if the enrolled actors are effectively committed to the social responsibility it advocates for. In case this does not happen, the UN is supporting a window-dressing mechanism that does not effectively foster corporate responsibility. Finally, the fact that potential non-compliers are involved in a UN backed initiative might damage expectations of society in general (for instance, consumers).

It should be considered if it would not be better for the UN to use the leverage of the UNGC as a mean to foster a real monitoring mechanism instead of remaining blocked in the idea of an "enterprise sharing centre" – a mechanism based

<sup>35</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Deva, 2006 (b), p.170-171.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> The following considerations are based on the opinions expressed in Deva, 2006(b), pp.183-188.

exclusively on good will and on good but vague ideas where enterprises share their achievements.

The UNGC has advantages and potential. It promotes the involvement of different actors in a common mechanism and it has the potential to foster the dialogue on corporate responsibility in the UN structure and among the different actors<sup>39</sup>. Nonetheless, it will be necessary to find a way to maximize its positive elements and to address its major shortcomings. As pointed out by DEVA<sup>40</sup>, "the Compact Office has to devise means and strategies to ensure that those corporations which join the initiative fulfil their social responsibilities both in letter and spirit". 41

As a conclusion, we can identify the major issues that existed before the creation of the UNGPs and which need to be addressed in order to create an effective normative and monitoring framework for business and human rights<sup>42</sup>:

- The lack of a normative framework with an international realm entailing the protection of all recognised human rights;
- The non-binding character of all the existent mechanisms;
- The lack of effective monitoring of corporations' activities regarding their respect for human rights.

## 2. Grievance mechanisms or the quest for remedy for corporate related human rights abuses

The other major issue in the business and human rights field is the difficulty for victims to have access to effective grievance mechanisms, to get remediation or even to achieve the recognition of a violation of his/her human rights.

In order to clarify this aspect, I will now address the treatment that corporate human rights abuses are receiving in monitoring and grievance mechanisms at

40 Idem, p.190.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Idem, p.186-190.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Idem, p.186-190. The author offers more suggestions to make the UNGC to be more global.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> If the UNGPs did or did not solve these issues is a topic to be analysed later in this thesis.

three levels: the international level (UN Treaty Bodies, hereinafter UNTBs), the regional level (jurisprudence of the European Court of Human Rights, hereinafter ECtHR) and, finally, the national level (access to national jurisdictions in the quest for remedy).

#### a) International Level: The United Nations Treaty Bodies

The UNTBs "are the committees of independent experts that review the reports by the State parties on their application of the provisions of the core human rights treaties." The UNTBs review the actions of States in the realm of the obligations they assumed with the ratification of a specific human rights' treaty.

Therefore, the references to corporate related human rights abuses in this context are deeply connected with the State duty to protect human rights or with the extraterritorial realm of States' obligations. The document "State Responsibilities to regulate and adjudicate corporate activities under the United Nations core human rights treaties: an overview of the treaty body commentaries" prepared in order to ground the work of the United Nations Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises (SRSG) offers an overview of the treatment that the different UNTBs have been giving to business and human rights related issues. Some of the elements reported in that document seem to be relevant to the current analysis although they should also be complemented with more recent information.

Firstly, there is an increasing tendency to urge States to provide protection against corporate human rights abuses.<sup>45</sup> Even in the wording of the treaties, the most

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Namely: the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Human Rights Committee, the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women, the Committee Against Torture, the Subcommittee on Prevention of Torture, the Committee on the Rights of the Child, the Committee on Migrant Workers, the Committee on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and the Committee on Enforced Disappearances. For more on the tasks and the functioning of the UNTBs: 'The United Nations Human Rights Treaty System – Fact Sheet No.30/Rev.1', available at: <a href="http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/FactSheet30Rev1.pdf">http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/FactSheet30Rev1.pdf</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014). <sup>44</sup> UN Doc A/HRC/4/35/Add.1, 2007.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Idem, p.2.

recent ones show an increasing concern with such violations, containing a more specific language regarding the needs created by corporate abuses<sup>46</sup>.

Secondly, in the approach followed by the General Comments, the UNTBs show a tendency to deal with specific rights and specific business sectors.<sup>47</sup>

It is also interesting to point out that, especially in the activity of the Committee on Economic Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), it is already recognized that the field of business and human rights is not exclusively related to the State's duty to protect (meaning, avoiding abuses from other actors). In fact, in specific circumstances (such as their actions in international organizations), the duty to respect (not to interfere with protected human rights) itself might be violated.<sup>48</sup> CESCR also seems to be the UNTB which refers more explicitly to business enterprises and the need of protection that emerges from their activities as it often refers to regulation of business enterprises in its General Comments<sup>49</sup>.

Thirdly, the UNTBs are not providing detailed guidance on how the States parties can fulfil their duty to protect regarding corporate abuses, not even when they are addressing the country reports: "When issues before the treaty bodies involve activities related to business activity, concluding observations often contain general expressions of concern about such activities, rather than specifying whether or how States are expected to regulate or adjudicate the entities behind those activities." The required measures for States are kept in an ambiguous language, maintaining a wide margin of discretion: "The State's duty to take steps to prevent and punish abuse may necessitate a variety of measures. In particular, the treaty bodies require in most cases that abuse is prohibited by law, that alleged violations are properly investigated, that the State brings perpetrators to justice and that victims are provided with an effective remedy." In addition, it is often

<sup>46</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Idem, p.2; 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Idem, p.10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Idem, p.13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Idem, pp.17-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Idem, p.21.

stated that monitoring should be a central piece to the fulfilment of the duty to protect<sup>52</sup>.

In the scope of individual communications, there have been some complaints regarding the failure of states parties to protect against human rights violations conducted by business enterprises<sup>53</sup>. The Committees have been keen to consider such claims admissible despite the objections raised by some States.

The cited document also provides some highlights on the rights that are more often connected with business abuse in the context of the UNTBs work, some examples are: discrimination, labour rights, minority rights and children rights<sup>54</sup>.

Regarding extraterritoriality, the work of the UNTBs does not allow to talk about the current existence of an obligation of States to exercise it<sup>55</sup> but in, recent documents, they seem keen to assume the existence of such an obligation<sup>56</sup>.

In April 2013, the Committee on the Rights of the Child (CRC) published its General Comment no.16 (hereinafter CRC GC16)<sup>57</sup> covering the issue of State's obligations regarding the impacts of businesses on children's rights. This General Comment is the result of a drafting process which involved consultation of different stakeholders and seems to be a first attempt to directly connect business impacts and the rights of a particularly vulnerable group – children<sup>58</sup>.

It seems that, despite the limitations of their mandates and the work they have been doing in this area, the UNTBs could do more in the field of business and human rights. One way to do so would be to provide more clear instructions on how States should behave and what kind of measures can be taken in order to improve human rights' protection and to make sure that State parties are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Idem, p.21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Idem, pp.19-20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Idem, p.31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Idem, p.34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> For details on recent documents issued by the UNTBs: Amnesty International, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup>CRC/C/GC/16, available at:

http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/ layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=CRC%2fC%2f GC%2f16&Lang=en.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> For more information on the drafting process and on General Comment No.16 itself: Gerber, Kyriakakis, , O'Byrne, 2013, pp.93-128.

complying with their international obligations.<sup>59</sup> They can also to assume a more prominent role in the disclosure of cases of corporate human rights abuses in the scope of their mandate and activities. In the field of the reporting obligations of States towards the UNTBs, it seems that these bodies could ask more from the States, increasing the visibility of the topic<sup>60</sup>.

#### b) Regional Level: The European Court of Human Rights

Just as the UNTBs, the ECtHR does not deal with complaints against individuals (or companies). Therefore, when it analyses the issue of business and human rights, it does so from the perspective of States' duties. This can happen if a person files a complaint against a State for non-compliance with the duties established in the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR), enabling a corporation to violate human rights.<sup>61</sup>

Despite the limitations, there are some cases, such as Young, James and Webster v. The United Kingdom<sup>62</sup>, Taskin and Others v. Turkey<sup>63</sup> and Tatar v. Romania<sup>64</sup> that address, in different situations and regarding different rights, the inability of States to provide protection to their citizens' rights against impacts of corporations. In the case Kalender v. Turkey<sup>65</sup>, also the State's failure to conduct a criminal proceeding against a company responsible for a violation was condemned.

In Young, James and Webster v. The United Kingdom, the applicants, former employees of the British Railway, were dismissed due to the existence of an agreement between the company and three unions, determining that only affiliates

<sup>61</sup> Article 35 ECHR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Supporting this opinion: UN Doc A/HRC/4/35/Add.1, 2007, p.37.

<sup>60</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> European Court of Human Rights, Young James and Webster v. The United Kingdom, 13 August 1981, available at <a href="http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng/pages/search.aspx?i=001-57608#{"itemid":["001-57608"]}</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> European Court of Human Rights, Taskin and Others v. Turkey, 30 March 2005, available at <a href="http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng/pages/search.aspx?i=001-67401#{"itemid":["001-67401"]}">http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng/pages/search.aspx?i=001-67401#{"itemid":["001-67401"]}</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> European Court of Human Rights, Tatar v. Romania, 6 July 2009, available at <a href="http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/fra/pages/search.aspx?i=001-90909">http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/fra/pages/search.aspx?i=001-90909</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014).

European Court of Human Rights, Kalender v. Turkey, 15 March 2010, available at <a href="http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng-press/pages/search.aspx?i=001-96252">http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng-press/pages/search.aspx?i=001-96252</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014).

to those trade unions could be employed by the enterprise ("closed shop agreement"). The applicants claimed that they were victims of a violation of articles 9, 10, 11 and 13 (respectively, freedom of thought, conscience and religion, freedom of expression, freedom of assembly and association and right to an effective remedy). The Court considered that the agreement led to a violation of the right contained in art.11 of the ECHR (analysed in conjunction with articles 9 and 10). The Court considered that the State violated its obligations by having a legislation that allowed for such an agreement, which was a limitation to the right contained on art.11 ECHR<sup>66</sup>. Moreover, it considered that "the detriment suffered by Mr. Young, Mr. James and Mr. Webster went further than was required to achieve a proper balance between the conflicting interests of those involved and cannot be regarded as proportionate to the aims being pursued."

Taskin and Others v. Turkey and Tatar v. Romania are related to environmental pollution and violations or article 8 ECHR (right to respect for private and family life). In the first case, the applicants claimed that as a result of the operation licence granted to one company to operate a gold mine nearby their population they suffered the consequences of environmental damages. Even though the Supreme Administrative Court annulled the licence (on the grounds that the risks to environmental integrity and human health posed by the activities and substances used in the activities were high and not sufficiently addressed by the preventive measures implemented by the company), the mine continued to operate for ten months. The Court analysed the alleged violation of article 8 both from a procedural and a substantive point of view, concluding that the actions of the public authorities (not enforcing properly the decision of the Supreme Court) indeed violated article 8 ECHR: "notwithstanding the procedural guarantees afforded by Turkish legislation and the implementation of those guarantees by judicial decisions, the Council of Ministers (...) authorised the continuation of production at the gold mine (...). In so doing, the authorities deprived the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> European Court of Human Rights, Young James and Webster v. The United Kingdom, 13 August 1981, available at <a href="http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng/pages/search.aspx?i=001-57608#{"itemid":["001-57608"]}</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014), §57.

European Court of Human Rights, Young James and Webster v. The United Kingdom, 13 August 1981, available at <a href="http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng/pages/search.aspx?i=001-57608#{"itemid":["001-57608"]}</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014), §65.

procedural guarantees available to the applicants of any useful effect." Moreover, it decided that also article 6 (right to a fair trial) was violated. In this regard, the reasoning of the Court was similar to the one previously stated – by not complying with the decision of the competent judiciary body, the State also disregarded the right to a fair trial by giving it no effect in practice<sup>69</sup>.

Tatar v. Romania also dealt with activities of a gold mine in which a toxic component was used. Following an accident, contaminated water was released. The applicants argued that they were victims of a violation of article 8. Firstly, it was considered that pollution can have an impact on family life and that it is a duty of States to regulate activities that can represent a danger to both the environment and to the health of human beings. This clarifies that the Court recognises that States have obligations regarding the activities of business enterprises and to take the necessary measures and procedures in order to avoid that their activities impact on the environment and health of human beings. As a consequence, it came to the conclusion that the Romanian State did not fulfil its duties both by failing to assess the risks of the activities of the company and by not taking the necessary measures to protect its citizens<sup>71</sup>.

Case Kalender v. Turkey calls upon both the right to family life and the right to a fair trial. The applicants were relatives of the victims of a train accident that, according to the investigation, was the consequence of the lack of adequate safety measures from the Turkish National Railway Company and of the lack of care of the victims. In the proceedings before the ECtHR, the applicants alleged violations of article 2 (right to family life) due to the failure of the authorities to protect their relatives and of article 6 (right to a fair trial) as they considered that

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> European Court of Human Rights, Taskin and Others v. Turkey, 30 March 2005, available at <a href="http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng/pages/search.aspx?i=001-67401#{"itemid":["001-67401"]}">http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng/pages/search.aspx?i=001-67401#{"itemid":["001-67401"]}</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014), §125.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> European Court of Human Rights, Taskin and Others v. Turkey, 30 March 2005, available at <a href="http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng/pages/search.aspx?i=001-67401#{"itemid":["001-67401"]}">http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng/pages/search.aspx?i=001-67401#{"itemid":["001-67401"]}</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014), §135-138.

Press release issued by the Registar of the ECtHR, available at <a href="http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/fra/pages/search.aspx?i=003-2615810-2848789#{"itemid":["003-2615810-2848789"]}</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014).

Press release issued by the Registar of the ECtHR, available at <a href="http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/fra/pages/search.aspx?i=003-2615810-2848789#{"itemid":["003-2615810-2848789"]}</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014).

the national court was not impartial (the final decision concluded for shared responsibility of the company and the victims in the accident) and that the proceedings took too long. The ECtHR concluded that, as regards to article 2, "the authorities had thus failed in their duty to implement regulations for the purpose of protecting the lives of passengers". In addition, it also held that by not opening official investigations regarding the train company "The Turkish criminal justice system had not therefore been in a position to determine the full extent to which the public servants and authorities were liable for the accident, and had not effectively implemented the provisions of domestic law that guaranteed the right to life." On these grounds, the Court decided that article 2 was violated. Additionally, the ECtHR concluded that article 6 was also violated but only regarding to the excessive length of the proceedings and not to their impartiality.

As these cases show, the ECtHR has been stating that States have responsibilities regarding corporate activities. They are, therefore, responsible at least to monitor the activities and to take the necessary measures in order to prevent violations of rights contained in the ECHR as a consequence of the activities of other entities. Furthermore, there is also an obligation to provide access to fair trial to victims of alleged corporate-related abuses.

Due to the competence limitations of the ECtHR, and to the scope of the Convention, these decisions did not add much regarding the human rights obligations of companies or to the (extra-)territorial scope of the obligations of States regarding corporate activities. It is good that they restate the responsibility of States to protect the citizens against human rights violations of third parties but taking into account the current state of play regarding norms and mandates, there is not much that can be (at least directly) done at this level.

It will be interesting to see how the Court will decide when confronted with a case that regards extraterritorial operations of companies based on the territory of a

Press release issued by the Registar of the ECtHR, available at <a href="http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng-press/pages/search.aspx?i=003-2969271-3269606">http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng-press/pages/search.aspx?i=003-2969271-3269606"</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014).

Press release issued by the Registar of the ECtHR, available at <a href="http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng-press/pages/search.aspx?i=003-2969271-3269606">http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng-press/pages/search.aspx?i=003-2969271-3269606"</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014).

State party to the ECHR and the failure of States to monitor and to provide remedies for victims (as the actions of companies cannot be directly addressed).

## c) National Level: National Jurisdictions

As we can conclude from the above, neither at the international, nor at the regional (European) level, alleged victims have direct access to a mechanism that enables them to present their case and get remediation for the violation of their human rights. This is probably one of the reasons why alleged victims have been trying to find compensation in different national jurisdictions<sup>74</sup>.

The obstacles they face in this context are multiple. As in any other mechanism, the financial difficulties and the obstacles to get proper advice are also a problem here. On the one hand, as pointed out by Professor Ruggie, "a negative symbiosis exists between the worst corporate related human rights abuses and host countries that are characterized by combinations of relatively low national income, current or recent conflict exposure, and weak or corrupt governance". This is intrinsically connected to difficulties in access to justice in the countries were the violations are committed and where the victims are. On the other hand, even in the cases where victims are able to reach other States in their quest for justice, jurisdictional issues are often raised, namely the problems related to extraterritorial jurisdiction. Besides, it is not always easy to understand exactly who to sue and the different implications of a corporate structure. Nongovernmental organisations (NGOs) and Civil Society Organisations (CSOs) in general keep on underlining the difficulties and barriers that victims of corporate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Skinner, McCorquodale, De Schutter, Lambe, 2013, p.26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Ruggie, 2013, p.29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Despite the evolution in the UNTBs in this matter (as explained above), in general States still do not have wide recognitions of jurisdiction regarding human rights abuses occurring abroad. Moreover, the problems with imputation of actions (closely related to corporate structures) add new layers to these difficulties.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> In Skinner, McCorquodale, De Schutter, Lambe, 2013, pp.14-20, the authors list the following top ten issues that demand intervention in order to improve access t remedy in the US, Canada and Europe: (1) ability to bring a claim where the harm occurs outside the home State; (2) Forum con conviniens doctrine; (3) Corporate liability for human rights abuse (corporate criminal liability and corporate civil liability); (4) time limitations on bringing claims; (5) immunities and nonjusticiability doctrines; (6) applicable law; (7) Proving human rights violations; (8) the cost of bringing transnational litigation (legal aid, loser pays provisions, legal standing of third parties to bring claims, collective redress and class action mechanisms); (9) the structure of the corporate group; (10) remedies: reach and enforcement.

human rights abuses have to face in order to access remediation<sup>78</sup>. Even though, some cases reached the national jurisdictions of countries such as the United States of America (US), the United Kingdom and the Netherlands. I will not analyse the treatment given to such cases in national jurisdictions but merely highlight some of the most emblematic features of the avenue that has been more discussed in the literature – the US Alien Tort Claims Act (ATCA) that are relevant to understand the difficulties of finding a grievance mechanism for cases of corporate related human rights abuses and to see that such difficulties might be increasing.

In the field of transnational litigation, the ATCA, an American legislation from 1789, has been explored by human rights lawyers as a potential avenue to provide remedy to victims of human rights violations by corporations abroad. It has been the ground for some complaints but, in practice, and as pointed out by MASSOUD, it "has inherent limits and is still subject to uncertainties, such as the absence of any "positive" decision, the limits due to state action, the rule of forum non conveniens, and the question of corporate liability under the ATCA in general."<sup>79</sup> The truth is that from all the cases that were considered admissible none was decided in favour of the plaintiffs. In addition to the inherent difficulties, the Kiobel decision from 2013 (widely analysed and discussed in the literature) created more difficulties to the application of the ATCA to extraterritorial cases, requiring that the claim "touches and concerns" the US in order to be admissible.<sup>80</sup> The applicability of ATCA to legal persons has also been questioned. The most emblematic cases that were presented to American Courts in the context of ATCA did not even lead to a decision as they ended up being settled by the parties. This was the case of the complaint regarding the Bhopal tragedy, for instance<sup>81</sup>.

Finding redress for human rights violations by companies is also a quest in the national jurisdictions, especially when such violations happen in countries that do

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Relevant texts providing a detailed overview in this regard are: Skinner et al., 2013, and Amnesty International, 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Massoud, 2012, p.8.

<sup>80</sup> Skinner, McCorquodale, De Schutter, Lambe, 2013, p.14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> For more about the case: Ruggie, 2013, pp.6-9; Amnesty International, 2014.

not have a reliable judiciary. Extraterritorial jurisdiction for these cases is still rare and even when it theoretically exists it is not easy for victims to accede to courts (in the case of ATCA due, for instance, to the fact that it is only applicable to the most serious violations). In addition, even the most claimed avenue for extraterritorial jurisdiction (ATCA) is getting restricted in a trend that goes against the general opinion regarding the extraterritorial responsibilities of States<sup>82</sup>. Corporate structures and organisational models also represent obstacles in the determination of jurisdiction and sometimes provide a way for corporate entities to escape the scrutiny of judicial bodies.

#### 3. Interim conclusions – issues and weaknesses of the framework

From the above, we can conclude that there are multiple issues that need to be dealt within the context of business and human rights shall be took into consideration when analysing the UNGPs.

On the normative spectrum, as already stated, there was no document focusing exclusively on human rights and covering all the rights in a coherent fashion. Moreover, all the frameworks were of a voluntary nature (as the UNGPs also ended up being<sup>83</sup>). Voluntary initiatives (of different natures and scopes) have been multiplying but they are not enough to address the issues of business and human rights. Firstly, in the realm of voluntary initiatives are the companies itself who have the power to determine the rights to protect, the standards used to their definition and their scope of application<sup>84</sup>. This means that the substantive dimension of human rights protection remains in the hands of corporations themselves, without any scrutiny or control. Secondly, it is also up to the corporations to decide how their performance would be evaluated, how the results will be transmitted and which measures and processes shall be followed in case of

<sup>82</sup> In this regard the Maastricht Principles on Extraterritorial Obligations of States in the area of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights provide a valuable source of opinio juris. Text available at http://www.etoconsortium.org/nc/en/library/maastricht-

principles/?tx\_drblob\_pi1%5BdownloadUid%5D=23 (last consulted 24 May 2014).

83 This will be further analysed later in this thesis.

<sup>84</sup> Ruggie, 2013, p.76.

violation. This means that also all the procedures are in the hands of the ones to scrutinise<sup>85</sup>. The proliferation of voluntary initiatives can be an important element in the regulation of business and human rights but cannot be its central piece. It has to have a minimum threshold that complies with the international standards to base on, it has to have a preventative and not a reactive nature and to contribute to a more complete and coherent framework instead of promoting fragmentation<sup>86</sup>.

In addition to the lack of an efficient normative framework, there is a lack of effective grievance mechanisms. It is extremely hard for victims to have access to justice due to multiple barriers. Even in the cases where corporate related human rights abuses are dealt with at the international or at the regional level, they are always seen from the perspective of State duties.

The UN normative initiatives in the field of business and human rights will be described in the next chapter but we should keep the discussed documents and initiatives in mind when assessing the needs and the impacts of the currently leading document in the field, the UNGPs. This was the scenario that the SRSG faced in the beginning of its mandate and those were the challenges posed to him (most of them still prevail). It is important to underline that the UNGPs did not substitute any of the previously existent frameworks; instead, they are a new standard that as to be understood and included in this context.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> Ruggie, 2013, pp.68 *et seq*.<sup>86</sup> Ruggie, 2013, p.76.

## III. The United Nations Guiding Principles – a new instrument on Business and Human Rights

## 1. The UNGPs in theory

A first attempt to address business and human rights from a normative point of view at the UN level was the Draft United Nations Code of Conduct on Transnational Corporations from 1990, prepared by a Committee appointed by the Economic and Social Council. This document was never adopted, as there was disagreement between "developed and developing countries"<sup>87</sup>.

The following normative initiative was the Norms on the responsibilities of transnational corporations and other business enterprises with regard to human rights (hereinafter Norms)<sup>88</sup>. The document was approved in 2003 by the UN Sub-Commission on the Protection and Promotion of Human Rights (Sub-Commission), a body composed by experts that was at the dependence of the Commission on Human Rights (Commission), the predecessor of the HRC<sup>89</sup>. The Commission denied the approval to the document, so it never produced real effects<sup>90</sup>. The Norms did not gather the necessary support from States. The business sector was also unhappy with the content of the document<sup>91</sup>. Notwithstanding, they were widely discussed by different stakeholders: contested by States and business and applauded by NGOs.

Despite of a general reference to all human rights, the Norms included a catalogue of rights more often associated to business impacts, namely: the right to equal opportunity and non-discriminatory treatment, the right to security of persons, workers' rights and consumer and environmental protection<sup>92</sup>. Although recognising States as primary duty bearers in the field of human rights, the Norms envisaged wide obligations for businesses, including promotion and fulfilment<sup>93</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> Deva, 2012, p.102.

<sup>88</sup> E/CN.4/Sub.2/2003/12/Ver.2, 26 August 2003.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Deva, 2012. p.102.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Ruggie, 2013, pp.47-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Deva, 2012, p.102.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> On the arguments presented by the Norms supporters and critics: Jerbi, 2009, pp.299-320.

<sup>93</sup> E/CN.4/Sub.2/2003/12/Ver.2, 26 August 2003, p.4.

As pointed by the former SRSG, this statement poses two main issues: first, the unclear scope of the obligations imposed on companies; second, the inclusion of a broad range of obligations that do not seem to distinguish corporations from States<sup>94</sup>.

Without any proper UN normative framework regarding business and human rights, in 2005 the former Commission requested the UNSG to appoint a SRSG in this area. Professor Ruggie was entrusted with this task for an initial mandate of two years that was then renewed (coming to an end in 2011)<sup>95</sup>. The initial mandate of the SRSG was not particularly ambitious. In his own words, he was entrusted with the tasks of "identifying what international human rights standards currently regulate corporate conduct (...); and clarifying the respective roles of states and businesses in safeguarding these rights". Due to the experience of the Norms and the reactions they raised, major results were doubtfully expected. However, multiple accomplishments happened during the six years he held the function. Both times the mandate of the SRSG was renewed (2007 and 2008), his competences were widened and the results very well received by the HRC. In the first renewal, he was asked to "develop recommendations on how to best advance the agenda". He responded with his report, containing the Protect, Respect and Remedy Framework<sup>97</sup>. In the second renewal, he was requested "to provide concrete and practical guidance for its [Protect, Respect and Remedy Framework] implementation". 98 It was with this aim that the SRSG presented the UNGPs 99.

The UNGPs, endorsed by the HRC in June 2011<sup>100</sup>, aim to enhance "standards and practices with regard to business and human rights so as to achieve tangible results for affected individuals and communities, and thereby also contributing to

-

<sup>94</sup> Ruggie, 2013, p.49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> Deva, 2012. p.102.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> Ruggie, 2013, p.xi.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> A/HRC/8/5, 7 April 2008.

<sup>98</sup> Ruggie, 2013, p.xlviii-xlix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> Resolution 17/4 of 16 June 2011.

a socially sustainable globalization"<sup>101</sup>. They are non-binding and do not create "new international law obligations"<sup>102</sup>.

The dilemma regarding the nature of the results of the work of the SRSG was an issue since the beginning of his mandate: would he follow a traditional international law approach, pave the way for a binding instrument? Would he ground his work on the Norms?<sup>103</sup> The Norms intended to start a pathway based on the direct imposition of obligations to companies via International Human Rights Law. This approach was rejected by the SRSG from the beginning. The SRSG disappointed the defenders of hard standards that wanted him to use the Norms as a basis for the work ahead. He publicly criticised the document and rejected to further elaborate on it. The business sector and States were pleased with this option and more receptive to engage in the discussion. The SRSG also rejected to follow the option of paving the way for a legally binding standard, considering that it was not yet possible to reach common grounds on the topic and that such solution would take very long time, jeopardising short and mid-term solutions <sup>104</sup>. Simultaneously, the SRSG recognised the limitations of voluntary initiatives 105 and concluded that none of the options, by themselves, would be able to provide a significant change in the field of business and human rights. The SRSG concluded that in order to have the support of the HRC an alternative method was necessary. 106 As a consequence, in the words of their own drafter "the Protect, Respect and Remedy Framework (...) and the Guiding Principles (...) aim to establish a common global normative platform and authoritative policy guidance as a basis for cumulative step-by-step, progress without foreclosing any other promising longer-term developments." <sup>107</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, p.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> On this, and on the tensions that the different actors in the field posed to the SRSG since the beginning of his mandate: Ruggie, 2013, pp.37-38.

Ruggie, 2013, pp.55-68. The objections to the arguments of the former SRSG regarding the creation of a legally binding instrument will be presented infra on Chapter IV.1.

A deep explanation of the work and opinion of the SRSG can be found at: Ruggie, 2013, pp.69-78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> Ruggie, 2013, p.81.

<sup>107</sup> Ibidem.

The fact that the UNGPs do not have a legally binding nature cannot lead to the disregard of their content and potential. The UNGPs achieved the endorsement of the HRC, were in general well received by the business sector and led to changes in previous normative documents<sup>108</sup>. They are the result of a wide consultation process involving states, businesses and CSOs that must be applauded. Notwithstanding, it is important to look towards the UNGPs in a critical way in order to assess their role and impacts. In the following pages, an overview is given of the content and main characteristics of the UNGPs. After, there will be an analysis of the different duties/responsibilities the UNGPs establish, and an attempt to point possible avenues for implementation by addressing some specific issues.

While recognising that different challenges may arise to different categories of business structures and in different sectors of activity, the UNGPs are applicable to all types of companies<sup>109</sup>. This is very important as an overarching framework should provide standards that apply to the whole business sector. How these standards will be translated in the daily activities of a specific corporation is a work that needs to be done in other instances, involving different contributions and sources of regulation (for instance, this is an important area for sector initiatives)<sup>110</sup>.

The UNGPs are also applicable to all States<sup>111</sup> and the responsibilities of corporations do not annul the ones of States regarding human rights<sup>112</sup>. In other words, the establishment of "responsibilities" for business enterprises shall not be the ground for a disregard of the duties States are bound to. The same goes the other way around. While complementary, the roles of States and business are autonomous and different.

The UNGPs cover all the "internationally recognised human rights – understood, at a minimum, as those expressed in the International Bill of Human Rights and

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> As an example, the 2011 update of the OECD Guidelines can be pointed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, General Principles, p.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> This will be further developed in the next part of this chapter and also in the following chapter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, Commentary to GP11.

the principles concerning fundamental rights set out in the ILO's Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work." 113 It is proven (both by multiple cases of corporate human rights abuses and by the studies developed by the SRSG<sup>114</sup>) that it is not reasonable to exclude *a priori* that a company can violate a specific right or group of rights. This is also coherent with the principles of indivisibility and interdependence of human rights. Despite the positive element of admitting possible violations of any recognised rights and allow for consideration of other international standards "depending on circumstances" 115, the reference to normative documents is restricted to the International Bill of Human Rights and to the core ILO Conventions. This disregard for other important and well accepted human rights treaties (namely the human rights treaties) is, without any doubt, a negative aspect 116.

The duties/responsibilities contained in the UNGPs are organised in a "three pillar structure": the State duty to protect human rights, the corporate responsibility to respect human rights and access to remedy. The SRSG intended to make clear that different actors have different duties/obligations/responsibilities regarding human rights. Not only the content of such duties/responsibilities/obligations is different (protect/respect). They also have a distinct nature: States have a duty while companies have a responsibility<sup>117</sup>. This is intrinsically related with the nonbinding nature of the UNGPs themselves.

Taking all of these into account, it should be recognised that the UNGPs are an important achievement for different reasons. First of all, the SRSG developed an impressive work, not only by involving the different actors in a wide discussion

 $<sup>^{113}</sup>$  HR/PUB/11/04, 2011. GP 12. The Conventions classified as "core Conventions" by the ILO's Governing Body are: Forced Labour Convention (no.29, from 1930), Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention (no.87, from 1948), Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention (no.98, from 1949), Equal Remuneration Convention (no.100, from 1951), Abolition of Forced Labour Convention (no. 105, from 1957), Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Convention (no.111, from 1958), Minimum Age Convention (no.138, from 1973), and Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention (no.182, from 1999). In http://ilo.org/global/standards/introduction-to-international-labour-standards/conventions-andrecommendations/lang--en/index.htm (last consulted 24 April 2014).

114 A brief presentation of such data can be found at Ruggie, 2013, p.24-25 (graphics related to

geographical location and sector of activities).

HR/PUB/11/04, 2011. Commentary to GP 12, p.14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> In this regard, for instance: Blitt, 2012-2013, pp.44 et seq; Deva, 2012, p.105.

<sup>117</sup> The character of business' responsibility to respect will be analysed infra.

on the topic, but also by promoting investigation in this field<sup>118</sup>. Secondly, they do not connect businesses responsibilities with a closed list of human rights. They are grounded on the central idea that through their activities, corporations have the potential to affect different rights in different manners<sup>119</sup>. Thirdly, they are encompassing in the sense that include a role both for States and for corporations<sup>120</sup>.

Despite of these positive features, there are important gaps that we should be aware of. Being non-binding, the UNGPs do not provide for a legal source of obligations. Their effectiveness depends to a wide extent on the willingness of companies and States to implement measures. It is true that positive impacts of the UNGPs in practice can already be pointed<sup>121</sup>. However, it is not as clear that victims are feeling meaningful impacts. There is also no way to oblige unwilling companies to incorporate them<sup>122</sup>. This is connected with the fact that the UNGPs do not provide for any monitoring mechanism, which leaves once again the compliance with their provisions, pretty much dependent on the good will of the actors they address.

#### 2. The UNGPs in action

After an analysis of the general features of the UNGPs, an overview is given of the duties they establish for each actor and possible instruments and measures to implement a system of effective protection will be discussed. For reasons of clarity, this part of the chapter is organized according to the three structural pillars of the UNGPs: the *States' duty to protect*, the *companies' responsibility to respect*, and the *access to remedy*.

.

A list of the documents prepared by and submitted to the SRSG can be consulted at: <a href="http://www.reports-and-materials.org/Ruggie-docs-list.pdf">http://www.reports-and-materials.org/Ruggie-docs-list.pdf</a> (last consulted 3 June 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Ruggie, 2013, p.20; p.95.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> Ruggie, 2013, p.82.

Such as the amendments on other normative instruments, the endorsements by companies, among others.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> De La Vega, Mehra, Wong, 2011, p.8.

## a) States' duty to protect – *How to better protect?*

## i) Understanding States' Human Rights duties regarding business

The first chapter of the UNGPs is devoted to the States' duty to protect human rights. It is based on the traditional content of the obligation to protect human rights that binds States. It implies that State's have the obligation to provide protection against human rights violations by companies and to make clear that national companies are expected to act in respect of human rights. This is established in the foundational principles of the pillar.

In the first pillar, the operational principles can be summarized as: action in regulation and policy making<sup>123</sup>, adoption of specific measures in corporations that are owned/controlled/supported by the state<sup>124</sup>, support of respect for human rights in areas affected by conflicts<sup>125</sup>, assurance of policy coherence.<sup>126</sup>

States' regulatory and policy functions are addressed in GP3 which enumerates actions that States shall develop in order to fulfil their duty to protect. These include: enforcement of laws and assessment of their adequacy, coherence in the legal framework, guidance of companies and encouragement of communication regarding human rights impacts<sup>127</sup>.

Regarding the first group of measures, the commentary<sup>128</sup> mentions the creation of "an environment conducive to business respect for human rights"<sup>129</sup> through the body of laws and policies they create and develop. It implies that States should assess the impacts of their body of law on human rights, in particular, the effects that the legal frameworks may have in business respect for human rights. It is, therefore, up to States to make sure that the different policies and legislative actions they create, promote corporate respect for human rights<sup>130</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011; GP3, p.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> Idem, GPs4 to 6, pp.6-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> Idem, GP7, pp.8-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> Idem, GPs8-10, pp.8-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> Idem, GP3, p.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> Idem, p.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> Ruggie, 2013, pp.87-88.

It is important that States take this element into account as a general recommendation for the implementation of the UNGPs. This field is intrinsically connected with different bodies of law (as, among others corporate law, labour law and trade law). As a consequence, we cannot isolate the problem of business and human rights from all these branches. Integrated action is a crucial element for success. It also seems relevant that States take more into account the human rights impact (even if indirect) of their legislation and policies as a part of their duty to protect.

Despite referring to an obligation of states to "encourage, and where appropriate require business enterprises to communicate how they address their human rights impacts" the UNGPs do not go far by imposing for example any reporting obligations. It is unclear what kind of measures should be incentivised as it is stated that communication can range from "informal engagement with affected stakeholders to formal public reporting" This seems to fall short from any effective action. Transparency is fundamental to promote the respect of business for human rights. As a consequence, implementing public reporting is an essential avenue to guarantee public scrutiny of the actions of companies. This is particularly relevant as the UNGPs do not provide for monitoring or compliance mechanisms.

After a general approach of States' duties, the UNGPs focus on three particular types of situations where a special treatment is necessary. These are the situations in which there is a State-Business nexus (Guiding Principles (GPs) 4 to 6); corporations operating in areas affected by conflicts (GP7) and policy-coherence (GPs 8 to 10).

The State-business nexus related principles cover three areas of concern: (i) companies controlled or owned by the State (GP4) – state acting as a shareholder; (ii) companies with which the State establishes contracts to the provision of services with a potential impact on human rights (GP5) – essential services are to

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, GP3, p.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Idem, p.6.

be provided by corporations due to contracts made with States; (iii) companies with which the State has commercial links (GP6).

The context of operations of a company is an important element in the business and human rights field as there are multiple corporations acting in backgrounds where there are already very intricate human rights situations and an inability/unwillingness of State structures to protect the human rights of their citizens. The UNGPs establish duties for the States to help companies acting in these contexts in GP7. Briefly, these duties are: (i) counselling and assisting corporations acting in such contexts; (ii) exclusion of companies involved in gross human rights violations; and (iii) policy coherence in order to diminish the risks of potential involvement of companies in such violations.

The final three principles of the first pillar of the UNGPs are about policy coherence. This demand is applicable to three main groups of State activities: coherence among State institutions; coherence in the economic agreements in which the State takes part and, finally, coherence in the States' action as members of multilateral organisations.

Finally, there is a duty to provide access to remedy, which is dealt with in the third pillar of the framework and will be further developed in the third part of the current title.

After this general overview of the State's duty to protect, some conclusions can be drawn. While it is positive that the Framework and the UNGPs use the State duty to protect as its central element, there are multiple issues that were not dealt with in a progressive manner. In some areas, the UNGPs risk to establish very wide margins of appreciation for States that, combined with the lack of effective and formal monitoring mechanisms to corporate behaviour, do not help the role that civil society can develop as watchdog. This is the case with the communication requirements, as the UNGPs establish that they can amount merely to informal engagement with stakeholders.

Extraterritorial obligations of home States are briefly mentioned, in order to merely state that, according to international human rights law, States are not obliged to regulate extraterritorial activities of their national companies<sup>133</sup>. This is a negative aspect once, as it will be addressed *infra*<sup>134</sup> there are good reasons to consider extraterritorial obligations as a way to foster corporate human rights responsibility. This is especially relevant in a world where companies can easily move their operations, where there are still many imbalances of power, and where so many host States are still unwilling or incapable to provide appropriate regulation and enforcement. Even when specifically addressing activities in conflict-affected areas<sup>135</sup>, the measures proposed are rather diplomatic and based on leverage and the possibility to exercise any kind of jurisdiction is only mentioned in cases involving gross human rights abuses.

Taking the above into account, I will now focus on some specific areas in which States should act in order to improve protection of human rights violations by the corporate actors.

### ii) Specific issues – Fulfilling the duty to protect

The UNGPs preserved the most traditional way of looking towards the relationship between International Human Rights Law and non-State actors – via action of States<sup>136</sup>. This leads to particular demands regarding State action. When we talk about states' obligations, the UNGPs are not the only relevant human rights standard. There are other sources of obligations (human rights treaties, comments, recommendations and analysis of human rights bodies) that have to be taken into account when determining the required action. Doing so is especially relevant if we consider that the UNGPs show a particular lack of ambition in some aspects (as already pointed out, for instance, regarding extraterritorial obligations)<sup>137</sup>. In addition, the effectiveness of the second pillar of the UNGPs also depends in a wide margin on what States do to fulfil their human rights obligations.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, commentary to GP 2, pp-3-4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> *Infra* Chapter III.2.a.ii.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, GP7, pp.8-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> Seppala, 2009, p.412; Jägers, 2011, p.160.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> Jägers, 2011, p.161.

The fact that States have, in general, three main duties regarding human rights (to respect, to protect and to fulfil) was already touched upon in Chapter II. The analysis undertaken in that chapter also demonstrated how States are much more exposed to the scrutiny of human rights bodies. This is natural if we take into account that, at its genesis, the human rights system was constructed taking into account the relationship State-Individual. Despite not being new actors, the regulation of actions of non-State actors still appears as something relatively recent and problematic, due to the basic construction of the regime <sup>138</sup>.

This does not necessarily imply that States duties regarding the regulation of corporations and the actions needed to fulfil their duty to protect are always clear. Recent documents that provide useful guidance regarding the substantive obligations of States regarding corporate action are the CESCR, Statement on the obligations of States parties regarding the corporate sector and economic, social and cultural rights<sup>139</sup> and the General Comment No.16 (2013) on State obligations regarding the impact of the business sector on children's rights (hereinafter CRC GC16), issued by the CRC<sup>140</sup>.

This section will analyse possibilities for States to improve protection for corporate-related human rights abuses and fostering the content of the UNGPs. It is clear that due to their characteristics, the effectiveness of the UNGPs (non-legally binding nature, non-legal character of the corporate *responsibility*, lack of proper enforcement mechanisms) relies widely on State action.

As a preliminary remark, it is important to make clear that in this section, I will deal mainly with the actions of States in their role of regulators (duty to protect) and not in their procurement activities nor in the situations in which corporate activities can be attributed to them. Even though, it shall be underlined that, taking into account the current tendency to privatise services considered as essential to the dignity of human beings, such processes demand careful analysis and

 $<sup>^{138}</sup>$  On the evolution of the international human rights regime in geral: Isa, 2009.  $^{139}$  E/C.12/2011/1, 12 July 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> CRC/C/GC/16, 17 April 2013.

procedures and, in any event the States shall abdicate of all their prerogatives regarding the privatised functions<sup>141</sup>.

## • Policy coherence

One important first remark that is patent on CRC GC16, on GP8 *et seq.*, and also on the 2012 Report of the Working Group on the issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises (WG)<sup>142</sup> is that dealing with business and human rights shall not be a task of isolated governmental departments. It demands consultations with stakeholders and the involvement of governmental agencies and departments dealing with trade, economic affairs, corporate regulation... This allows for a participative and coherent process and also contributes to one of the priorities established in the UNGPs – policy coherence. In addition, it enhances the legitimacy and scrutiny of policies, regulations and practices.

Also in this regard States cannot forget their human rights obligations when they engage in treaties and contracts and other domains and when act in the context of intergovernmental organisations/multilateral institutions<sup>143</sup>. These are two other reasons why state action regarding business and human rights shall be transversal and involve multiple actors and fields of public action. Only with this type of approach it will be possible to embed business and human rights in state action as a whole.

### • National legislation and regulation

National legislation and regulation is essential to make corporate responsibilities meaningful. In this regard States have multiple tasks to perform in order to comply with their human rights obligations.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> Regarding the duties to protect and privatization of services: de Feyter, 2009; De La Vega, Mehra, Wong, 2011, pp.5-6; HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, GP5, p.8. On the particular impact on the rights of the Child: CRC/C/GC/16, 17 April 2013, p.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> A/HRC/23/32, 14 March 2013, p.20, par.7(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, GPs 9-10, pp.11-12. Regarding the obligations of States in the context of international organizations it also interesting to be aware of the particular reference made by the CRC GC16: CRC/C/GC/16, 17 April 2013, p.7.

First, it is important to access the impacts of legislation and regulations of branches of law and policy that are strictly connected with business and human rights (corporate<sup>144</sup> and labour law are just two examples). This is stated in the UNGPs but it is also an important piece of the State duty to respect<sup>145</sup>. Naturally, if after such impact assessments the conclusion is that there are regulatory barriers implying negative human rights impacts, proper action shall be taken to change the scenario.

In the vast majority of the cases, States will also have to "establish appropriate laws and regulations, together with monitoring, investigation and accountability procedures to set and enforce standards for the performance of corporations" <sup>146</sup>. This is indispensable in the domain of corporate due diligence. As we will see infra, due diligence (briefly, the process "to know and show that they do not infringe on others' rights"<sup>147</sup>; the avenue for companies "to identify, prevent, mitigate, and address adverse impacts on human rights", 148) is considered as the central piece of the corporate responsibility to respect. However, if we rely only on the UNGPs, it is not mandatory, is not subjected to content requirements, and its absence or the disregard of its results do not lead to any legal consequence. According to SKINNER AND OTHERS, "legislation imposing minimum due diligence standards on the controlling entities within business enterprises, for example on their headquarters companies, would clarify their legal responsibility and significantly reduce the need for costly litigation." They proceed stating that "All home States of multinational enterprises should therefore make it clear that a business can be found civilly liable for human rights impacts where it has not complied with a legal duty to carry out due diligence to prevent such impacts from occurring." <sup>150</sup> In addition and in the line of what is held by Mares <sup>151</sup>, such regulation should not only be focused on procedural aspects and establish merely

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> Regarding corporate and securities law being one policy cluster demanding special attention: Ruggie, 2013, pp.87 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> E/C.12/2011/1, 12 July 2011, p.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>147</sup> Ruggie, 2013, p.99.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> Skinner, McCorquodale, De Schutter, Lambe, 2013, p.91.

<sup>150</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> Mares, 2012, p.27.

formalistic requirements. It should also define substantive standards and monitoring mechanisms in order to avoid "decoupling or ceremonial conformity". 152 Action in this field is a cornerstone for business accountability.

The problems related to complex corporate structures and relationships also need to be addressed by States regulation. As pointed out by JÄGERS<sup>153</sup>, "corporations regularly escape being held responsible for human rights violations due to their complex business structures, claiming that subsidiaries are separate legal entities that must be brought to trial in the countries in which they operate." This problem is relevant both in the field of access to remedy<sup>154</sup> and in the due diligence requirements. Companies should not be able to avoid responsibility by using complex legal structures. Often, the corporate institutional organisation allows for a distribution of responsibility that is not compatible with the real control, decision-making, leverage, and other relevant powers, and their exercise in reality. The introduction of changes in this field, accompanied by meaningful regulation of due diligence (embracing the different parts and relationships of the company/group of companies) is essential to enable access to remedy and to increase accountability.<sup>155</sup>

In addition, as stated by McCorquodale, "laws should be developed so that parent corporations are clearly legally responsible in their home states for the actions of their subsidiaries in other states that occurred due to the subsidiary operating the policies of the parent company (for example on human resources policies, marketing and finances). This may also be a means to enable appropriate capacity building support to occur in some economically weaker states."

All of these possibilities of action are in accordance with the recommendations issued by the WG to implement the UNGPS that suggest that States shall identify

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>152</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> Jägers, 2002, p.253.

<sup>154</sup> Skinner, McCorquodale, De Schutter, Lambe, 2013, p.71 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> Skinner, McCorquodale, De Schutter, Lambe, 2013, p.91. Also in the same direction (and with a specific reference to due diligence regarding supply chains): International Commission of Jurists, 2014, p.30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> McCorquodale, 2009, pp.393-394.

barriers in access to remedy and to clarify their schemes of corporate liability for human rights violations<sup>157</sup>.

### Transnational activities and extraterritoriality

The UNGPs are intended to be applied to all corporations, whether they act inside the borders of one state or whether their activities go beyond such borders. However, companies that act in more than one State (multinational enterprises) pose different regulatory and monitoring challenges. In these cases we have, at least two relevant jurisdictions to consider: the one of the corporation's homestate (where it is headquartered) and the one of its host-state (where it develops services/products/activities). Despite the reference to conflict affected areas, the UNGPs first pillar often seems designed for a State with strong regulatory capacity and judicial structures. However, it is widely known that while the majority of the multinational companies are headquartered in countries that (at least in abstract) have such capacity, a large part of their activities is developed in States with fragile structures both at the normative, monitoring and accountability levels. This delocalization happens with recourse to different forms establishment of subsidiaries, subcontracting... In such cases, we have a gap that is leading to multiple corporate-related human rights violations and their impunity.

Jägers was one of the authors who criticised the treatment given to extraterritorial obligations of States in the UNGPs (GP2)<sup>158</sup>. Indeed, the wording used by the SRSG falls short from the current general understanding of extraterritorial obligations of States. Even though this is a field where there is still not a wide agreement regarding the particular obligations, we can say that there is a growing tendency to accept the existence of extraterritorial human rights obligations of States<sup>159</sup>.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> A/HRC/26/25, 5 May 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup> For instance, Jägers, 2011, p.161.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> Supra Chapter II.2.a and the Maastricht Principles on Extraterritorial Obligations of States in the Area of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, 2011, published by the ETO Consortium, available at <a href="http://www.etoconsortium.org/en/library/maastricht-principles/">http://www.etoconsortium.org/en/library/maastricht-principles/</a> (last consulted 28 June 2014).

It is not the scope of this thesis to study extraterritorial obligations of States, a topic that can lead by itself to multiple works and research. What is relevant to point out is that the nature of corporate activity often overcomes national borders, and can benefit from regulatory gaps and from the inability and unwillingness of some host States to provide meaningful human rights protection. This creates the need to consider that home States have obligations in preventing human rights abuses by their corporate nationals. Home States shall act in order to prevent that the external activities of such companies harm human dignity and universal values to which they committed and regarding which they have obligations.

In line with what is argued by Bernaz, extraterritoriality is not a black or white concept and embraces different types of action. For instance the adoption by a State of certain regulatory measures will have an extraterritorial impact. <sup>160</sup> The adoption of measures as the ones suggested in the previous point (due diligence embracing the whole corporate activities and relationships) is one of these cases and it seems hardly arguable that States should not do so. As stated by McCorquodale, in order for a State to fulfil its obligations to protect, it has to "enact laws and establish practices to protect against human rights violations, which may include regulation of both corporate nationals and their subsidiaries." <sup>161</sup> The type of measures suggested above is intended to have such impact and is also in line with the Maastricht Principles (namely, principles 9 and 25)<sup>162</sup>.

The exercise of extraterritorial jurisdiction is a different issue, related to the access of victims to the courts of home States in order to get redress from human rights violations committed abroad. This is particularly relevant when the judiciary of the host State does not provide guarantees of fair trial. It shall then be possible for victims to access the jurisdiction of the home State. The main issue in this regard is that even when such access is possible, results are often impaired <sup>163</sup> by practical and legal constraints. First, it usually requires a lot of resources,

<sup>160</sup> Bernaz, 2013.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> McCorquodale, 2009, p.390.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> Maastricht Principles on Extraterritorial Obligations of States in the Area of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights – cf. *supra* footnote 163.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> Supra Chapter II.2.iii.

mainly financial, that may not be accessible to the victims. Moreover, corporate structures and the rules of corporate responsibility also represent obstacles in the way for effective remediation. All these different problems shall be addressed by States and international organisations in order to provide remedy to victims of corporate-human rights abuses and to end impunity.

Despite all these difficulties and obstacles, the issue of extraterritorial obligations is a central topic in the business and human rights discussion and shall be one of the priorities for future debates regarding norm and policy making both at national, regional and international level. It is of the utmost importance that home States stand up for their obligations regarding their corporate nationals and do not disregard their activities overseas. The growing tendency to align with this understanding can be found in different documents from human rights bodies and is reinforced in the CRC GC16<sup>164</sup>.

### b) Companies' responsibility to respect – *How to fulfil?*

### i) General analysis of companies' duties

The responsibility of corporations is dealt with in the second pillar of the UNGPs. While it is up to the States to provide protection, compelling corporations to respect human rights and to provide access to remedies in case of violations, companies have a more restricted scope of responsibility.

First of all, corporations have a responsibility, as opposed to states, which hold a duty. As the former SRSG points out, this was not a casual distinction: "My use of the term "responsibility" was intended to signal that it differs from legal duties." This responsibility is not legally grounded and finds its logic in social norms and expectations 166. According to KNOX, this "provided a less controversial basis for the responsibility, but at the potential cost of making it softer and more inchoate. He [the former SRSG] tried to address these weaknesses by drawing on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> CRC/C/GC/16, 17 April 2013, p.10. <sup>165</sup> Ruggie, 2013, p.91. <sup>166</sup> Idem, pp.91 *et seq*.

human rights law."<sup>167</sup> Basically, the former SRSG considered that "the corporate responsibility to respect human rights is a widely recognized and relatively well-institutionalized social norm, particularly in relation to multinational corporations. But its implications for what companies need to do to meet this responsibility had never been spelled out authoritatively." This is where the *responsibility to respect* came from.

But, what does the *corporate responsibility to respect human rights* means then?

According to the wording of GP11, corporations "should avoid infringing on the human rights of others and should address the adverse human rights impacts in which they are/were involved." The commentary to GP11 states that such obligation exists in any operation of the company, independently of its geographical location; does not have a connection with the States' obligations and supersedes the obligations to respect local laws and regulatory mechanisms. This is the negative dimension of companies' responsibility – "to do no harm". <sup>169</sup>

GP12 determines the substantive scope of the obligation to respect. It does so based on the idea that, at least in abstract, any company can violate all human rights <sup>170</sup>. As a consequence, the obligation to respect is considered to comprise all the human rights contained in the documents that constitute the International Bill of Human Rights <sup>171</sup> and in the ILO's eight core Conventions <sup>172</sup>. It is relevant to underline the criticism held on my general analysis regarding the non inclusion of the other core human rights treaties in a direct manner.

GP13 determines the requirements of the corporations' responsibility to respect: they can violate human rights not only in their activities, but also in the context of its "business relationships" with other parties <sup>173</sup>. Moreover, such violations can be perpetrated both by action and by omission. In drawing this principle and the

<sup>168</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, GP11, p.13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> Knox, 2011, p.16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> Lindsay, McCorquodale, Blecher, Bonnitcha, Crockett, Sheppard, 2013, p.12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> Ruggie, 2013, p.95.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> The UDHR (from 1948), the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICCPR both drafted in 1966).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> For the list of "core Conventions": supra footnote 113.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, GP13, p14.

extension of corporate responsibility, the former SRSG abandoned the previously used concept of spheres of influence<sup>174</sup> and choose to "drew the scope of the corporate responsibility to respect human rights from the definition of respect itself: non-infringement on the rights of others. Thus (...) defines the scope in terms of the actual and potential adverse human rights impacts arising from a business enterprise's own activities and from the relationships with third parties associated with those activities."<sup>175</sup>

It is important to note that regarding their activities companies are required to "avoid causing or contributing to adverse human rights impacts" and to deal with them when they occur. While regarding impacts derived from their business relationships they merely have to "seek to prevent or mitigate adverse human rights impacts." It seems important not to take this distinction too far and to recognise that a corporation has responsibility for the "human rights record" of its products, services and operations. Furthermore, this responsibility shall go beyond its direct activity and be understood as a responsibility for the product, the service and operations it develops. This is especially relevant regarding powerful companies that work with multiple partners globally, including in countries where the State's structure is weak and the human rights record is poor. These companies usually have a great power over commercial partners and also over States. They have the potential to change dramatically the situation of such actors and recognising that they also have a responsibility for the products and services they provide can be at least an attempt to balance the situation.

GP14 restates that the responsibility under analysis applies to all corporations, independently of its particular characteristics. Notwithstanding, such individual

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> Theuws, van Huijstee, 2013, p.7.

Ruggie, 2013, p.97. For more on the distinction on these two approaches: Theuws, van Huijstee, 2013, p.7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, GP13, p14.

<sup>177</sup> Ibidem.

features may have an impact on the capacities and processes used to fulfil the responsibility<sup>178</sup>.

Considering this overview of the companies' responsibility (the foundational principles of pillar 2 of the UNGPs) we can already start questioning if this is enough and the UNGPs went as far as they could in the definition of these duties.

It shall be noted that it is extremely positive that such responsibility is expected to be fulfilled by "all business enterprises wherever they operate". <sup>179</sup> Moreover, it is positive that it is independent of the role of States and it is above national laws and regulations <sup>180</sup>.

Also the fact that is assumed that a corporation has demands regarding its business relationships is noticeable. Although, it is important not to read the UNGPS in a restrictive manner as it seems essential to recognise that, as a product deliverer or service provider, you are not a mere distributor. Especially taking into account the enormous powers of some companies it makes all sense that they have an obligation regarding all possible human rights linked to their activities.

The commentary to GP11 underlines another aspect that is both clarifying and relevant regarding the responsibilities of corporations: that their "good actions" cannot excuse their negative impacts in human rights<sup>181</sup>. This is especially relevant to clarify that the traditional activities related to companies "social responsibility" do not annul the need to prevent and address the negative impacts they have on human rights and that their human rights policy and performance shall distinguish the two dimensions.

Finally, it is positive that the UNGPs refer the corporate responsibility to all internationally recognised human rights (GP12). Regarding this point I reiterate the objection made supra regarding the non-inclusion of core human rights documents in the commentary to this principle.

 $<sup>^{178}</sup>$  HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, GP14, p.15. Regarding treatment of the same aspect in the Protect, Respect and Remedy Framework: McCorquodale, 2009, p.390.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, commentary to GP11, p.13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Ibidem. De La Vega, Mehra, Wong, 2011, p.6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, commentary to GP11, p.13.

The content of the GPs regarding the corporate responsibility to respect has also been subjected to criticisms. In fact, some of the options followed in the framework raise doubts regarding their strength and effectiveness. This is the case of the construction of the corporate responsibility to protect based on a mere social norm jeopardises effective protection and remedy. Is that strong enough, especially taking into account the roles and powers developed nowadays by corporations? If we consider the obligations to which some companies are already bound to by national legislations (at least in some States), the rights they are entitled to (even at the international level) and their potential impact is it appropriate ground their human rights responsibility on a mere social norm?<sup>182</sup>

This seems problematic by nature. It is a fact that companies and States have different social roles which is reflected in their social duties, namely in the field of human rights. However, it can be argued that, in order to avoid the political problems that a more solid construction of companies' duties was likely to raise 183, the UNGPs felt short from what is necessary in the field of business and human rights 184. It is particularly noteworthy that there is so much caution and fear to establish fully fledged duties for companies at the international level when they already enjoy a multiple array of rights, namely in the financial and arbitration field.

### ii) Fulfilling the responsibility

In the set of the UNGPs, a company does not only have a negative responsibility not to harm human rights. There is also a positive dimension<sup>185</sup> requiring companies to show that they are acting according to their responsibility. This dimension is the one defined in GPs16 to 22 and includes the concepts of policy commitment, HRDD and remediation.

 Policy Commitments, Human Rights Due Diligence and Remediation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> On this, and on the general issues raised by the "responsibility" concept in the context of an analysis of the Protect, Respect and Remedy Framework see McCorquodale, 2009, p.391-392.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> Taking the case of the Norms as an example.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> Jägers, 2011, p.163.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> Knox, 2011, p.17-18; McCorquodale, 2009, p.393.

The Policy Commitment (GP16) aims to be the basis of the human rights responsibility of a company and should obey to some demands, such as being approved by the senior levels of the enterprise, being based on proper counselling with experts, publicity, among others. 186 According to the UNGPs, the policy commitment aims to have a role both in the internal and in the external relations of the company. 187 According to DEVA, "the statement of policy envisaged by Principle 16 is a crucial document because this would allow companies to define (in a tailormade way) their human rights responsibilities with reference to the relevant international human rights instruments." <sup>188</sup> If properly designed and taken seriously, the policy commitment can indeed have an important role in shaping the company's activities and influence its relations both with subsidiaries and suppliers. Drafting an adequate and meaningful policy commitment may be the first action of a company in order to respect human rights.

HRDD seems to be the central piece 189 of corporate responsibility in the UNGPs. It is developed in GPs 17 to 21, which establish its parameters and essential components 190. HRDD and its role in the fulfilment of corporations' responsibilities will be further analysed in the next topic.

Remediation (GP22) is necessary when there is an adverse human rights impact caused by a business enterprise. According to the commentary, it can involve the company itself or other actors. It can take place in "operational-level grievance mechanisms", in judicial mechanisms or merely by taking a role in the remediation process (when the company is not directly involved in the adverse impact)<sup>191</sup>.

The commentary to GP22 states that "where adverse impacts have occurred that the business enterprise has not caused or contributed to, but which are directly linked to its operations, products or services by a business relationship, the responsibility to respect human rights does not require that the enterprise itself

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, GP16, p.16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> Idem, Commentary to GP16, p.17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> Deva, 2012, pp.105-106.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> Martin-Ortega, 2012, pp.106-107. <sup>190</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, Commentary to GP17, p. 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> Idem, Commentary to GP22, pp.24-25.

provides for remediation, though it may take a role in doing so." This assumption appears to be too simplistic. It is not rare that, in the context of the corporate responsibility to respect, the UNGPs provide for flexibility, allowing to take into account elements such as the size of a company in shaping its duties. Why was not the same approach followed in this regard? A company that sees itself involved in a human rights abuse due to a direct link between the abuse and its operations, products or services might have disregarded some of its duties and, therefore, also have responsibility in the remediation process 193. Moreover, the fact that such adverse impacts occurred and the company is directly linked to it may be the result of failures in the HRDD process or of a weak policy commitment. Furthermore, as pointed out by DEVA, "while this advice [no direct involvement in the remediation process] is consistent with the current legal position, it might not be the best course to follow for all companies in every situation. Past experiences show that even if the alleged abuses were directly caused by suppliers and contractors of TNCs[transnational corporations], adopting a 'hands off' approach might not be a viable option for TNCs, especially if they are seen by stakeholders as benefiting – economically or otherwise – from such abuses of business partners. A more responsible and pragmatic approach might be to engage the concerned business partners and try to remedy the alleged human rights abuses."194

The remediation process has to be jointly interpreted with pillar 3 of the UNGPs<sup>195</sup>.

### • Human Rights Due Diligence in particular

The UNGPs point HRDD as a way to "identify, prevent, mitigate and account for how they [business enterprises] address their human rights impacts." This

<sup>192</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup> This aspect is strictly connected with the distinction present in GP19 (due diligence), regarding the different actions that companies must follow depending on their involvement in a "human rights adverse impact". This distinction will be briefly addressed in the next heading in the context of human rights due diligence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> Deva, 2012, pp.107-108.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, Commentary to GP22, pp.24-25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> Idem, GP17, pp.17-18.

element is dealt with in GPs 17 to 21 and it can be considered as the centre piece of corporate responsibility to respect<sup>197</sup>.

In the words of McCorquodale, "this concept of due diligence appears to be an integration of the human rights obligation of due diligence in relation to the actions of the non-state actors (such as corporations) and the general business practice of due diligence." Indeed, the due diligence concept is used both in the human rights field (related to States' obligations) and in the corporate field (often associated to risk management)<sup>199</sup>.

As pointed by ORTEGA, despite the non-binding character of the UNGPs and the nature of corporate *responsibility*, "human rights due diligence, as defined by the SRSG, switches the focus from the risk to the corporation to that posed by those affected by its activities. It goes beyond the corporate governance standard of risk management to include a whole range of purposes: to identify, prevent, mitigate and account for human rights impact."<sup>200</sup> This is also reflected in the fact that HRDD regards, not only companies' "direct impact, through their own activity, but also covers the adverse impact that corporations may contribute to through their business relationships"<sup>201</sup>.

HRDD is composed by four elements: assessment of human rights impacts (GP18), integration of findings and implementation of appropriate action (GP19), tracking of the response's effectiveness (GP20) and, finally, communication (GP21).

Regarding the integration of findings and development of appropriate action, the commentary to GP19 distinguishes three types of situation: (i) the ones where is the company that causes the violation; (ii) the ones where it contributes to the result and, finally (iii) the ones in which there is a direct link between the

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> Martin-Ortega, 2013, pp.50-51; Deva, 2012, pp.106-107.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> McCorquodale, 2009, p.392.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> Ibidem. To a more detailed analysis of the use of the concept of due diligence in each of these fields: Martin-Ortega, 2013.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> Martin-Ortega, 2013, p.56

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup> Ibidem.

violation and its operations or products. 202 Some problematic situations may arise from the lack of precision of these concepts in practice. In the first case, the corporation "must take the necessary steps to cease or prevent the impact" 203. In the second case, "it should take the necessary steps to cease or prevent its contribution and use its leverage to mitigate any remaining impact to the greatest extent possible." <sup>204</sup> In the last type of situations, recognised as the most complex one, the adequate action by the corporation will have to be determined on a caseby-case basis, taking into account factors like "the enterprise's leverage over the entity concerned, how crucial the relationship is to the enterprise, the severity of the abuse, and whether terminating the relationship with the entity itself would have adverse human rights consequences"205. I agree with BLITT, when stating that "the manner in which the Guiding Principles address the complexity of a corporation being directly linked to harmful human rights impacts appears to weigh heavily in favor of preserving the business enterprise's economic interests." This is an option that may weaken the obligations of corporations regarding their supply chains which, taking into account, the production structures nowadays may have a very negative impact in the protection of human rights from corporate-related abuses. This position in the field of HRDD, allied with the different demands in the remediation process for this type of situations, and with the general limitation to the responsibility to respect established in GP13, can lead to an unjustified reduction of corporate responsibilities for their activities. In a scenario where decentralisation of production is common and the recourse to suppliers is also a frequent practice of big companies, this can lead to a dramatic protection gap.

-

<sup>206</sup> Blitt, 2012-2013, p.49.

HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, commentary to GP19, p.21. On this topic and regarding the different demands of each situation: Demuijnck, Björn, 2013, p.808.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, Commentary to GP19, p.21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> Ibidem. According to the same source, "leverage is considered to exist where the enterprise has the ability to effect change in the wrongful practices of an entity that causes a harm."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> Idem, Commentary to GP19, pp.21-22. It is also important to note that, as stated above, in these cases, the corporation can but is not required to take part in the remediation process according to the commentary to GP22. On this: Blitt, 2012-2013, pp.48-49.

HRDD shall be a constant process but it is somehow flexible as its particular functioning will depend on the company's specific features<sup>207</sup>. The UNGPs also recognise that "for TNCs that have a large number of suppliers and contractors spread all over the world, the advice is to prioritize those identified areas where the risk of adverse impacts is most significant". 208 It seems important that there is recognition that not all the companies have the same needs and demands regarding HRDD, however, it is not clear which is the baseline for all of them and how to assure that a certain process fits the particularities of a specific company.

Regarding the potential effects of HRDD in liability, the commentary to GP17 is clear that the mere conduction of the process does not avoid it 209. This is especially relevant once the UNGPs do not provide a set of minimum standards to assure that HRDD is meaningful.

Taking into account all the above, it seems that HRDD can have a very important role in the field of business and human rights. On the one hand, it can enable the company to act in a rights-compatible manner. On the other, the development of HRDD and the increased attention to human rights among the business sector might foster the flow of information regarding its impacts (current and potential) on human rights. It can provide new means for public scrutiny of corporate activity as well<sup>210</sup>.

However, we cannot look at HRDD without underlining some questions regarding its effective impact. First, as ORTEGA points out the UNGPs do not establish any consequences to the lack of due diligence<sup>211</sup>. This means that the effective potential of HRDD largely depends on what States decide to do and how they will take it into their national legislations.

Furthermore, it is pertinent to recall JÄGERS' remarks regarding HRDD implementation: "operationalisation of this sweeping notion of corporate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> Deva, 2012, pp.56, 106-107. Also in the same line of reasoning: Martin-Ortega, 2013, pp.50-

<sup>51.</sup> <sup>208</sup> Deva, 2012, pp.106-107.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, Commentary to GP17, p.19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> Demuijnck, Björn, 2013, p.801. <sup>211</sup> Martin-Ortega, Olga, 2013, p.56

responsibility in practice will prove to be very problematic. The Special Representative does, for example, not address how this responsibility relates to the important legal principle of separation of legal entities."<sup>212</sup>

In addition to these implementation and effectiveness concerns, it shall also be stated that implementing HRDD is not an easy task in general. CSOs working on business and human rights are likely to have an important function here, by translating the human rights language into instruments that corporations can easily use on their activities. Specific sector initiatives (especially if multistakeholder) can also help companies understanding the particular difficulties that arise in their fields and regions of activity. This must be a way to ensure that the flexibility that is allowed by the UNGPs regarding the HRDD requirements is used in a positive way and not as a mean to avoid responsibilities. Moreover, such structures may also promote some kind of internal monitoring of the HRDD practices that companies are implementing.

In order to implement the UNGPs in a meaningful manner, companies shall introduce HRDD in a way that is not merely procedural but that has real substantive impacts and, when necessary, seek for the engagement and support from human rights experts.

 The role of sector initiatives – specific standard setting and guidance tools

The UNGPs are grounded on the idea that every business enterprise can violate all human rights, independently of their sector of activity, dimension, geographical areas of activity, and organisational structure. Nevertheless, it is a fact that different companies face diverse human rights issues. Practice shows that there is a tendency of some sectors to jeopardize some rights more than others<sup>214</sup>. This can be related to the activities they develop but also to the contexts in which they

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> Jägers, 2011, p.162.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> In this regard, the work that has been developed by the Danish Institute for Human Rights deserves a particular note.

For instance, as it is shown by recent cases, the information and technology sector is closely linked to the right to privacy.

operate. In practice, companies are faced with different dilemmas that cannot be solved by an overarching instrument as it is not, by nature, its function.

Enhancing the respect for human rights and the compliance of companies is a multi-level task, with different spaces of action, actors and normative levels<sup>215</sup>. In addressing specific issues, create standard procedures and develop mechanisms of compliance, sector initiatives (especially if they involve the participation of the different stakeholders) are one of the actors that can have a crucial role.

Some industries have been in the spotlight for a long time regarding human rights issues (such as the extractive industries and the textile sector). Others are more and more addressed recently due to new challenges and demands (as it is the case both for the pharmaceutical industries and to the information and technology sectors). The challenges faced by the companies, and the dilemmas with which they are often confronted can be better understood and better addressed if specific guidance and mechanisms are created at the relevant sector levels. At this level, new forms of discussion and regulation can be addressed, new methodologies can be used and shared learning can enhance human rights respect. It is easier to identify difficulties and problems and to find proper guidance. This idea was already stated by the WG<sup>216</sup>.

It is worth to mention that CRC GC16 already includes references of specific measures regarding some activity sectors, namely pharmaceutical, mass media, advertising and marketing and digital media.<sup>217</sup>

The potential of multi-stakeholder initiatives (involving the corporate sector but also governments and civil society) was already recognised by the former SRSG in its 2007 report to the HRC.<sup>218</sup> However, their reliability must be assessed. According to the former SRSG, reliability depends on three elements: participation, transparency and ongoing status reviews.<sup>219</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> Deva, 2014, p.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup> A/HRC/23/32, 14 March 2013, p.22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> CRC/C/GC/16, 17 April 2013, pp.8-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> A/HRC/4/035, 9 February 2007, pp.16 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup> Idem, p.17.

Despite of all this potential to provide sector specific guidance, tools for impact assessment and effective due diligence, and contribution to increased awareness and remediation, it is important to look carefully to these initiatives and to the reasons that lead corporations to take part in them. First, they should involve different stakeholders in order to guarantee that they are not a mere strategy to protect corporate interests. Second, they cannot be used as a way to avoid other types of regulation<sup>220</sup>. Third, these initiatives are of a voluntary nature which means that their functioning, results and efficiency are dependent on the willingness of the participants.<sup>221</sup>

We can then conclude that, if properly structured oriented and assessed, and surrounded by appropriate regulatory frameworks, multi-stakeholder initiatives can be an important tool for the implementation of the UNGPs and other normative instruments. They can be privileged structures for an oriented dialogue, provide sector-specific guidance and develop a role in the grievance structures as well.

### iii) Am I complying? - The difficult task of measuring Human Rights performance

The whole idea of complying with human rights standards (in the case of corporations by their *responsibility* to respect) brought to the field of business and human rights the issue of designing human rights indicators and measuring performance.

In order to understand what is at stake it is important to clarify what a human rights indicator is. According to GREEN: "a Human Rights Indicator is a piece of information used in measuring the extent to which a legal right is being fulfilled or enjoyed in a given situation." <sup>222</sup>

Measuring human rights performance is a difficult task. Notwithstanding, in the realm of evaluation of States it is already a much debated issue, with some

Albin-Lackey, Christopher, 'Without Rules – A failed Approach to Corporate Accountability', available at <a href="http://www.hrw.org/world-report/2013/essays/112459">http://www.hrw.org/world-report/2013/essays/112459</a> (last consulted 21 June 2014).

<sup>222</sup> Green, 2001, p.1065.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> International Accountability Roundtable, 2013, p.11.

development<sup>223</sup>. In the field of business and human rights, measurement and development of indicators is a relatively new concern but the number of initiatives and standards developed is growing<sup>224</sup>.

The topic is too broad to be analysed in detail here but, due to its growing relevance and to its potential relevance in the future, it is important to understand what can be the advantages, and what are the difficulties regarding the measurement of business compliance with human rights<sup>225</sup>.

Monitoring corporate behaviour regarding human rights is not simple. There are too many different realities, contexts, and rights. Furthermore, if tracking the performance of every State's is already challenging, control the huge amount of corporations that exist nowadays is even harder. 226 Therefore, indicators that allow for reliable evaluations and comparisons can be a useful tool. And not only for the ones monitoring but also for the ones monitored and other stakeholders.<sup>227</sup>

In the opinion of DE FELICE, the UNGPs provide some guidance on indicators requirements: (i) "indicators should not limit their focus on those human rights that have significant financial consequences for the company (...)"228; (ii) indicators cannot mix human rights impacts and human rights positive actions of companies;<sup>229</sup> (iii) once companies have different responsibilities from states, the indicators to measure their performance have to capture that reality<sup>230</sup>. Taking this last point into account the author suggests three types of indicators to this field: policy (focusing on the corporation's compromise with human rights); process

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> Idem; HR/PUB/12/5, 2012.

list such of initiatives can be found at: http://www.businesshumanrights.org/media/documents/mb&hr list of initiatives featuring indicators 15 may 2014. pdf (last consulted 29 June 2014).

225 For more detailed information on this topic: http://blogs.lse.ac.uk/businesshumanrights/about/

and De Felice, 2015 (to be published). <sup>226</sup> Idem, p.8.

A list with the different entities benefiting from business and human rights indicators can be found at: http://blogs.lse.ac.uk/businesshumanrights/about/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> De Felice, 2015 (to be published), p.20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup> Idem, p.21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> Idem, p.22.

(regarding the due diligence and remediation mechanisms) and impact indicators (focusing on the corporate activities' consequences). <sup>231</sup>

However, none of the mentioned advantages comes without challenges. In a set with a particularly unclear definition of the corporate obligations<sup>232</sup>; where there are still multiple methodological challenges (namely scales of measurement and the differences in activities and contexts of operations)<sup>233</sup>, and difficulties in gathering valid and reliable information are particularly prominent<sup>234</sup>, developing reliable indicators and methodologies is a difficult task and will require a lot of work and devotion in the future.

It seems that once again, this is an aspect that will demand the involvement of different stakeholders in order to achieve results<sup>235</sup>. Moreover, priorities will have to be defined<sup>236</sup>. And if numbers and quantitative data can be appellate to managers and corporate actors, it is important bear in mind that, when assessing corporate compliance with human rights, "the strategy of accompanying scores with narrative explanations of the company's contexts of operation can help avoid the political risks linked to an overreliance of self-contained, seemingly objective, quantitative expressions."237

The development of indicators is extremely relevant to the development of business and human rights. However, the task shall be carefully conducted. The process shall be inclusive and procedural and substantive dimensions of human rights compliance shall be taken into account.

### c) Providing access to remedy – How to enhance accountability?

Chapter III of the UNGPs deals with access to remedies. GP25 characterises the existence of a State duty to ensure access to effective remedy as an element of its duty to protect human rights. This function can, according to the same principle,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> Idem, pp.22-27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> Idem, p.27

<sup>233</sup> Idem, pp.31 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> Idem, pp.37-41.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> Idem, p.45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup> Idem, p.45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> Idem, p.45.

be fulfilled "through judicial, administrative, legislative or other appropriate means"238 and respects to violations that take place "within their territory and/or jurisdictions.",239

A duty to protect that does not include a reliable and accessible system of remediation is useless. A State can adopt a wide range of measures to promote protect human rights but if violations are not addressed, it is unlikely that they will be effective.

Remediation has a substantive (regarding which different possibilities are pointed) and a procedural dimension<sup>240</sup> and the mechanisms used can be State-based and non-State based; judicial and non-judicial. Regarding the non-judicial procedures (both State and non-State based), there is a range of effectiveness criteria: legitimacy, accessibility, predictability, equitability, transparency, compatibility with rights and continuous learning<sup>241</sup>. Additionally, the so-called operationallevel mechanisms also have to be "based on engagement and dialogue." 242

This pillar of the UNGPs promises more than what it provides. There is a reinforcement of the need to redress victims of human rights abuses by business; it is recognised that the remedies might have different natures and scopes, and some criteria are defined in order to make them credible. But does this add a lot to what the previous pillars of the UNGPs already imply? Does this pillar indeed allow better access to remedy and grievance by victims? By now, it is widely recognised that the State duty to protect includes an obligation to provide remedies to victims of human rights violations by third parties. Moreover, access to remedy is itself a human right, included in multiple human rights instruments (art.8 UDHR, art.2 (3) International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights; art.13 ECHR; art.47 Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union).

What is necessary is to offer solutions to the multiple obstacles that still affect access to remedy: the overall lack of accountability due to multiple jurisdictional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, GP25, p.27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, Commentary to GP25, p.27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, GP31, pp.33-34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> Ibidem.

obstacles, to the complex corporate organisational structures, the problems related with victim's access to grievance mechanisms, etc.<sup>243</sup>. No progress has been felt in this regard and the truth is that, as rightly pointed out by the International Commission of Jurists (ICJ), even some of the avenues that were previously used in an attempt to achieve remedies are now being narrowed (e.g. the ATCA and the Kiobel case)<sup>244</sup>. These problems are increased by the lack of international monitoring and accountability structures<sup>245</sup>, another issue that the UNGPs did not solve. In fact, they "were primarily conceived as a tool for positive engagement (...)<sup>246</sup> and do not provide solid grounds for accountability<sup>247</sup>. As a consequence, the advancements produced by the UNGPs in the field of access to remedy are likely to be extremely limited, which impairs their effectiveness as a whole.

#### 3. Interim conclusions

Despite the criticisms, the UNGPs were able to gather some consensus around business and human rights, something that none of the previous UN initiatives and frameworks was able to achieve. The UNGPs are, therefore able to be part of the response to one of the needs in business and human rights—a common normative standard. The problem is that they have important flaws that affect other need in this field—enforcement.

The non-binding nature of the UNGPs, allied to the inexistence of a monitoring body and to the non ambitious mandate of the WG<sup>248</sup> weakens the potential of true empowerment of victims of corporate-related abuses.

Companies can also deal with difficulties in implementing them due to the lack of proper guidance<sup>249</sup>. Regarding the implementation of the UNGPs, both States and companies will have to act in a comprehensive manner, not focusing on merely

<sup>245</sup> Idem, pp.16-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> International Commission of Jurists, 2014, p.16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> Idem, p.17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup> Idem, p.17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> *Infra* Chapter IV.2.a.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> Deva, 2012, p.108.

procedural adjustments but seeking substantive results. This will demand the development of consistent knowledge on the different ways in which corporate activities can impact human rights. Even practices that might not look like having adverse impact at first sight can lead to abuses. An example of this is the companies' practices as buyers<sup>250</sup>.

Another concern to keep in mind is that business and human rights is not only about integrating concerns that are related to human rights in business practices and reporting. In order to achieve meaningful progress, such issues also have to be seen as human rights concerns and therefore achieve better practices<sup>251</sup>.

As an attempt to provide an answer to the question of whether the UNGPs were able to provide solutions to the gaps that existed in business and human rights, I would say that they did it partially. They did so mainly to the ability of creating an inclusive dialogue, to develop a basic standard, to advance some solutions and to uncover some of the problematic issues that still exist. However challenges are not over. At the normative level there is still need for stronger standards and for proper guidance. Regarding the monitoring and remediation processes there is work to do at the different levels in order to provide meaningful access to remedy and accountability<sup>252</sup>.

New challenges are showing up – being measurement of compliance one of them. The development of indicators that allow reliable understanding of compliance of corporations with human rights is a challenge that will mark the following years. This process can help the monitoring task but can also lead to advancements in the clarification of business obligations regarding human rights.

Cooperation, open-mind, transparency, rigor and creativity will be necessary to address all the challenges ahead.

Institute for Human Rights and Business, *The "State of Play" of Human Rights Due Diligence* – *Anticipating the next five years* – *Volume One: General Overview*, ISBN: 978-1-908405-03-6, 2011, p.33.

A clear example of this situation can be found in: Ruggie, 2013, pp.1 *et seq* (regarding the Apple case).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>252</sup> FIDH, 'Briefing Paper – Business and Human Rights: Enhancing Standards and Ensuring Redress', 2014.

# IV. Prospective developments

The adoption of the Protect, Respect and Remedy Framework and of the UNGPs did not end the regulatory difficulties regarding business and human rights. Multiple avenues and different measures are available and, contrary to what is argued by some authors, they are not necessarily exclusive.

From everything that was presented above, the vast literature on the topic and taking into account the reality itself, it is clear that, the UNGPs and their implementation "are no panacea" for the issues faced on business and human rights. This chapter aims to analyse the main options that have been discussed to move the field forward and to provide some contributions to such discussions. It is grounded on the idea that the implementation of the UNGPs is not incompatible with other processes and options for the future, and that the debate must be open and inclusive. No option is, by itself, the solution to the challenges we face regarding regulation, monitoring, protection and remediation. Every move shall be considered as a part of an overall system of regulation with multiple layers, both normatively and institutionally<sup>254</sup>. The problems in this field of action cover too many actors, too many rights, too many places, too many challenges to International Human Rights Law that demand creative and innovative solutions<sup>255</sup>.

The possibilities addressed in this chapter do not exclude but complement the possibilities discussed to implement the UNGPs. I will first address the question of the legally binding instrument on business and human rights and after, once strategies for implementation of the UNGPs on the State and company level were addressed in the previous chapter, I will focus on what can be done in the current institutional framework (both international and regional) to promote the respect of human rights by business enterprises.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup> Albin-Lackey, Christopher, 'Without Rules – A failed Approach to Corporate Accountability', available at <a href="http://www.hrw.org/world-report/2013/essays/112459">http://www.hrw.org/world-report/2013/essays/112459</a> (last consulted 21 June 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> Meyersfeld, 2014, p.2; Deva, 2014, p.2; Jägers, 2002, p.257.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup> Deva, 2014, p.2

## 1. A legally binding instrument on Business and Human Rights?

The more recent impulse regarding an international binding instrument started in September 2013, when Ecuador, supported by a group of other countries and CSOs<sup>256</sup>, led the call for a binding instrument addressing transnational corporations<sup>257</sup>. This brought the treaty issue again into the spotlight, raising multiple reactions: the support of some countries (mainly non-Western) and civil society organizations and the objections of business and other States.

According to Professor Ruggie<sup>258</sup>, the opinions regarding an international legally binding instrument are divided into two major groups. One, that includes the former SRSG, considers that the implementation of the UNGPs shall be the priority and bases its perspective on the "principled pragmatism". This group aims to tackle specific governance gaps with international instruments focused on issues considered to be more relevant and regarding which there is, in their opinion, broader consensus (e.g. gross human rights abuses). The second group advocates for an overarching treaty with the aim to address the issues related to corporate-related abuses. According to PITTS, "the world's diverse and inconsistent laws and enforcement, combined with the utter lack of corporate accountability in *most* cases of business human rights abuse (...), sufficiently justify a treaty. Indeed, a treaty is arguably *required* by the state duty to protect read with the requirement of effective remedy, given the prevailing corporate impunity."

Considering the factual circumstances and the described state of play of business and human rights, further international action is necessary. There are still multiple and grave issues related to human rights abuses by corporate actors. The UNGPs and all the other standards and initiatives (including multi-stakeholder initiatives

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup> Republic of Ecuador, 'Statement on behalf of a Group of Countries at the 24th Session of the Human Rights Council', September 2013, available at: <a href="http://business-humanrights.org/media/documents/statement-unhrc-legally-binding.pdf">http://business-humanrights.org/media/documents/statement-unhrc-legally-binding.pdf</a> (last consulted 23 June 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>258</sup> Ruggie, 'International Legalization in Business and Human Rights', June 2014, available at: <a href="http://www.business-humanrights.org/media/documents/ruggie\_-wfls.pdf">http://www.business-humanrights.org/media/documents/ruggie\_-wfls.pdf</a> (last consulted 23 June 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>259</sup> Pitts, 2014, p.1. In the same line of reasoning: Deva, 2014, p.5.

and industry initiatives) are relevant: they provide important ground for discussion and baseline norms that can help States and corporations behaving more responsibly. They are an essential piece of the regulation of business and human rights<sup>260</sup> and shall be used as a ground to future initiatives. However, firstly they are all of a voluntary nature; they do not have a legally binding status that obliges the different actors to behave accordingly<sup>261</sup>. Secondly, they lack independent and strong monitoring and implementation mechanisms. Thirdly, they leave a great number of topics without proper treatment (e.g. extraterritorial obligations; the accountability issues related to the complex corporate structures). Finally, neither of them provides effective remedy structures that assure that victims can be redressed<sup>262</sup>. It is clear that these issues continue to be obstacles in the field of business and human rights and that only a multilateral solution will be able to provide coherent policies to this "collective action problem."<sup>263</sup>

This does not mean, however, that a treaty by itself would be the definite solution. As rightly pointed out by DEVA: "rather than being a stand-alone magical tool, an international instrument should be seen as plugging in some of the deficiencies of existing regulatory tools." This means that its content and scope shall be carefully considered and that we should not simply argue for any treaty<sup>265</sup>.

One of the arguments presented against the possibility of negotiation of a treaty is that it will take too long to achieve results. This seems undeniable. In general, multilateral treaties take their time to be concluded. There is no reason to believe that it would be different with a treaty on this topic, on the contrary. This does not imply, however, that the avenue shall not be explored. As long as the different actors keep working with the current grounds and frameworks and acting up to

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> Deva, 2014, p.2

Albin-Lackey, Christopher, 'Without Rules – A failed Approach to Corporate Accountability', available at <a href="http://www.hrw.org/world-report/2013/essays/112459">http://www.hrw.org/world-report/2013/essays/112459</a> (last consulted 21 June 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup> International Commission of Jurists, 2014, pp.15 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> Pitts, 2014, p.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> Deva, 2014, p.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup> Esdaile, 2014, p.2.

their obligations, the problem of duration shall not exclude the negotiation process<sup>266</sup>.

In the conception defended in this thesis, the treaty would be a complementary piece to the regulatory system, providing coherence and common solutions to common problems. This does not mean that the UNGPs and other frameworks shall be disregarded. They must be a central element in the negotiation process<sup>267</sup>. Additionally, the existence of mandatory standards is not incompatible with the existence of voluntary frameworks and they shall be seen as complementary<sup>268</sup>. It is important to remind that the UNGPs and the other relevant frameworks on business and human rights will not be thrown away just because other options are considered. They remain as authoritative standards and shall be taken into account both in the national, regional and international level.

There are more issues to solve. The international community cannot initiate a negotiation process that will certainly be, by its own nature, hard and long, without framing the aims and priorities of the expected outcomes<sup>269</sup>. As referred to above, some authors consider that moves shall be focused on a treaty addressing the so-called gross human rights abuses, a concept that, according to the former SRSG<sup>270</sup> includes "those that may rise to the level of international crimes, such as genocide, extrajudicial killings, and slavery as well as forced labour." On the opposite side, DEVA argues that "such an instrument should cover all human rights, because calls for negotiating a narrow treaty that deals

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> Jägers, 2002, p.258. Although not considering at least in the referred work, the treaty as a need, the author reinforces that: "Pending such an agreement, it is crucial that the existing supervisory mechanisms are used to their full potential by including a systematic scrutiny of corporate behaviour."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> Pitts, 2014, p.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup> Deva, 2014, p.10.

We agree with Professor John Ruggie in this regard when he affirms that "before launching a treaty process its aims should be clear, there ought to be reasonable expectations that it can and will be enforced by the relevant parties, and that it will turn out to be effective in addressing the particular problem(s) at hand." In Ruggie, 'International Legalization in Business and Human Rights', June 2014, available at: <a href="http://www.business-humanrights.org/media/documents/ruggie\_wfls.pdf">http://www.business-humanrights.org/media/documents/ruggie\_wfls.pdf</a> (last consulted 23 June 2014), p.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> Ibidem.

On the difficulties regarding the determination of the concept of gross human rights abuses and the applications of standards in this regard to companies: International Commission of Jurists, 2014, pp.22 et seq.

with only egregious abuses is reflective of the prioritisation of civil and political rights over social, economic and cultural rights."<sup>272</sup>

I consider the last position as the most appropriate. The arguments for such are the ones that were used to applaud the fact that the UNGPs cover virtually all internationally recognised human rights. Companies have the potential to impact with all the array of protected human rights in different forms, with different intensities and within different contexts. Gross abuses are undoubtedly a matter of concern but such concern should not overshadow the fact that all violations shall be addressed and even the ones that would not fit in the category of gross abuses can have a dramatic impact in human dignity, the primary concern of human rights <sup>273</sup>. We cannot ignore that some of the most violent human rights by companies would arguably be considered as gross human rights abuses as the term is often used. Moreover, due to the criminalisation of conducts that are classified as gross human rights abuses (both at the national and international level) it might be easier to address such cases.

I also agree with Deva regarding the scope of application – an international binding instrument shall be applicable to all corporations<sup>274</sup>. Specificities regarding sizes, activities and other elements shall be addressed in different contexts.

It is also important to focus on the content of such instrument. We do not need a new instrument that establishes obligations that already exist in International Human Rights Law. Nowadays, is consensual that States have a duty to protect that involves avoiding human rights violations by non-state actors. What we need is a document that addresses, on the one hand the difficulties raised by the nature of corporations and their activities, their human rights duties<sup>275</sup>, and that enhances the possibilities for victims to access to remedies.<sup>276</sup> States should also be envisaged by such an instrument. Besides clarifying their obligations in this

<sup>2</sup> \_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup> Deva, Surya, 2014, p.7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> On the same logic: International Commission of Jurists, 2014, p.35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup> Deva, 2014, p.7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup> International Commission of Jurists, 2014, pp.32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> Deva, 2014, p.2.

realm, a new document can, for instance, as rightly pointed out by the ICJ, "create a system of international cooperation in judicial and legal matters"<sup>277</sup>. A new instrument will only be useful if it addresses problems and gaps that are currently unsolved. There is no point in initiate a process of negotiation of a treaty if it will merely reaffirm commitments to which States are already bound.

A final issue that I would like to mention is the question of extraterritorial obligations and the need to consider them in this context. As pointed out by DEVA, "while extraterritoriality may not be an ideal form of regulation, it is a necessary evil that already exists in many areas and can be justified both on legal and policy grounds."

It also seems extremely relevant that, besides reinforcing the access to remedies in national jurisdictions (to which extraterritorial obligations is a central piece) a monitoring mechanism is established. Such mechanism should be able to receive individual complaints regarding specific cases (where both the corporations and the involved States can be targeted), to provide guidance to the relevant actors and to initiate investigations by its own motion<sup>279</sup>. Regarding the activities of such a mechanism, different action options can be considered. We can think in a similar model to the General Comments issues by the UNTBs, but also in the creation of cooperation networks with NHRIs allowing for more local action and directed guidance. The task of oversight the compliance of States with their obligations has necessarily to be articulated with the other UNTBs. Not only because it is part of their functions but also because, in some cases, they are in a better position to analyse and address State action regarding specific rights and contexts.<sup>280</sup>

It is now possible to summarize the main issues involved in the binding instrument topic and to reinforce some essential ideas. First, an international legally binding instrument seems to be a missing piece in the business and human

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup> International Commission of Jurists, 2014, p.37. Also stating that "International cooperation would be necessary in several areas to realize the objectives of such a treaty. One crucial area is the area of mutual legal assistance in the investigation, collection of evidence, prosecution and recognition and enforcement of sentences in both criminal and civil cases."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup> Deva, 2014, p.11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup> De La Vega, Mehra, Wong, 2011, p.11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>280</sup> This function of oversight States should also be a competence of such body, according to De La Vega, Mehra, Wong, 2011, p.11.

rights regulation. The global nature of the problems involved requires concerted action and cooperation<sup>281</sup>. Second, the binding instrument shall be seen as a necessary complement to the existing regulation tackling the issues that the nonbinding and voluntary initiatives are not able to solve in an effective manner and that can be better addressed at the international level. Third, it is true that there are many obstacles. A long process, with hard negotiations is predictable but should not, as such, avoid the debate. Fourth, as stated by the former SRSG that there is no "silver bullet" in this field. 282 The international legally binding instrument shall not aim to be the source for the solution of all business and human rights related problems. It has to develop a different role from other standards and initiatives at a different level of regulation, to represent a guarantee of certainty both for States, victims and corporations, and to be an element of cohesion and coherence of the system. Finally, due to the complexities of the business and human rights field and to the multiplicity of actors involved, an inclusive process of drafting and negotiation should be followed. It is important that the moves forward are not lead from an anti-business perspective, though bearing in mind that "human rights are not negotiable: they should not be subject to the consent, willingness or capacity of business to assume human rights obligations."283

In the 26<sup>th</sup> session of the HRC (June 2014), two resolutions regarding business and human rights were approved<sup>284</sup>. The first, led by Ecuador and South Africa focused on the creation of an "open-ended intergovernmental group" to work on the creation of a legally binding instrument addressing the activities of transnational corporations. The second, led by Norway and the Core Group focused more on the WG and in the domestic implementation of the UNGPs, although it also requests a consultation process regarding a future binding instrument<sup>285</sup>.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup> De La Vega, Mehra, Wong, 2011, p.1; Pitts, 2014, p.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup> Ruggie, 2013 – the author even uses the expression as the title of chapter two of the book.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> Deva, 2014, p.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> Both resolutions can be found at <a href="http://business-humanrights.org/en/binding-treaty-pros-and-cons">http://business-humanrights.org/en/binding-treaty-pros-and-cons</a> (last consulted 7 July 2014).

<sup>285</sup> Pietropaoli, 2014. The document is the analysis of the Business and Human Rights Resource

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> Pietropaoli, 2014. The document is the analysis of the Business and Human Rights Resource Centre to the business and human rights events in the 26<sup>th</sup> Session of the HRC and provides a general overview of the resolutions.

The analysis held in this chapter can already be used to assess these resolutions. Regarding the first one, though it represents an important first step in the progress of business and human rights we cannot ignore that the lack of support of States such as the US and the EU Member States<sup>286</sup> jeopardizes the success of a negotiation process and the effectiveness of future results. Moreover, as was already highlighted by some CSOs, the resolution focus on companies that develop transnational activities<sup>287</sup>, not being encompassing in this sense. As was argued throughout this thesis, such an option is not appropriate and may lead to inappropriate results in practice.

Regarding the second resolution, focused on the implementation of the UNGPs, it is also a positive development as the process of drafting a legally binding instrument will undoubtedly took a long time. Meanwhile, as stated in this thesis, reinforcing the activities of the WG and work on better and increased implementation of the UNGPs is both a way to ensure protection and to establish some common ground to the content of the prospective legally binding instrument.

As pointed by Rees, the panorama today is not the same as it was in the past, as it is much clearer today that business cannot ignore human rights<sup>288</sup>. As a consequence, the treaty process shall not start from zero. We have now common standards that can ground the discussions and a clearer view of the gaps and regulatory needs in this field. It is of the utmost importance that the intergovernmental working group to the legally binding instrument takes this into account. It is undeniable that the process will largely benefit from the involvement of the States that voted against Ecuador's resolution. This is of particular relevance as the main argument of the US and the EU grounding the vote against

http://www.ipsnews.net/2014/06/after-losing-vote-u-s-eu-threaten-to-undermine-treaty/ (last consulted 12 July 2014)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>287</sup> International Network for Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, <a href="http://business-humanrights.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/cawg statement re un hrc resolution text.p">http://business-humanrights.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/cawg statement re un hrc resolution text.p</a> df (last consulted 12 July 2014).

http://www.csrwire.com/blog/posts/1417-treaties-the-un-guiding-principles-on-business-human-rights-the-way-forward (last consulted 12 July 2014).

the resolution (that it would impair the efforts of implementation of the UNGPs<sup>289</sup>) is weak and, as argued above, does not correspond to the reality.

The approved resolutions do not seem to be incompatible, on the contrary. It will now be a matter of time to see how they will be followed-up and which developments they will promote.

# 2. Interim measures: International and Regional Institutions – rethinking priorities and mandates

#### a) International level: The United Nations structure

The aim of this part is to, based on the needs, possibilities and proposals identified and advanced by the UNSG<sup>290</sup> and by different authors, gather some thoughts and propose an integrated approach within the UN structure that allows the issue of human rights and corporations to move forward. It will not, however, go into a detailed analysis of the complexities of the UN structure and bodies.

The UNSG recognises that the business and human rights topic demands an overarching approach from the UN system<sup>291</sup>. Moreover, it is necessary to coordinate efforts and to embed business and human rights across the organisation, its priorities and actions.<sup>292</sup> Indeed, despite of the fuzz around the UNGPs and the fact that business and human rights seems to be nowadays a topic of growing concern, it is hard to discern a coherent UN action in the field. On the contrary, it seems that compartmented initiatives are developed without a clear common strategy. Due to the wideness of the topic, only decentralised but coordinated action will be able to provide evolution.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>289</sup> Ruggie, <a href="http://www.ihrb.org/commentary/board/past-as-prologue.html#">http://www.ihrb.org/commentary/board/past-as-prologue.html#</a> edn5; Statement by the Delegation of the US, available at <a href="https://geneva.usmission.gov/2014/06/26/proposed-working-group-would-undermine-efforts-to-implement-guiding-principles-on-business-and-human-rights/">https://geneva.usmission.gov/2014/06/26/proposed-working-group-would-undermine-efforts-to-implement-guiding-principles-on-business-and-human-rights/</a> (both last consulted 12 July 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> A/HRC/21/21, 2 July 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> Idem, p.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>292</sup> Idem, pp.17-18.

According to the UNSG, the "the institutional focal point within the United Nations system for providing uniform guidance and clarification on issues relating to the interpretation of the Guiding Principles rests with OHCHR."

It is with this in mind and taking into account the suggestions that both the UNSG and other authors advanced, that I will synthesise a model of intra and inter institutional cooperation within the UN that can promote the advance of business and human rights. Such a structure requires the involvement of different actors that shall be responsible for different tasks and has the OHCHR, in close cooperation with the WG, at its centre. It also includes: the different UN Agencies, the UN TBs, the Special Procedures, the UNGC, the UN action in the field in general (in particular, as pointed out by the UNSG in the same source, OHCHR personnel) but also, NHRIs and the different regional actors<sup>294</sup>.

The aims of such systematic organisation should be clear and are closely related to some of the needs that have been pointed out by the doctrine and also presented in this thesis:

- To promote of the engagement an of the different stakeholders in the processes;
- To increase the accessibility and transparency of the system to victims;
- To enhance guidance and implementation support to the relevant stakeholders;
- To promote of a system based on different but coordinated levels of action;
- To foster the gathering of relevant information, allowing for focused action and real life improvements.

This shall lead (if successful) to an overall increase of the capacity to respond to the challenges and to a general mainstream of the issue of business and human

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup> Idem, p.8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>294</sup> It is important to underline that this is the result of a systematization of the proposals presented by the UNSG in the above mentioned report, complemented by the identified gaps and opinions of different authors who will be referred to in all relevant occasions.

rights, capable of promoting a spill-over effect and of being the basis for the future steps.

The WG was established by the HRC in Resolution 17/4<sup>295</sup>, which also defined its mandate. It is an expert body (composed by five members) which has mainly focused its activities in "the dissemination and implementation of the GPs in addition to supporting capacity building and providing advice upon request." Moreover, the WG can hold country visits and organises an Annual Forum on Business and Human Rights. <sup>297</sup>

One of the main criticisms pointed to this body is the fact that, despite receiving communications from different sources, the WG does not have the power to handle individual complaints<sup>298</sup>. The possibility to do so should be seriously considered as an avenue to improve corporate responsibility for human rights. The fact that an international body would be able to do such a task would provide a mean of disclosure of corporate abuses; facilitate the access to remedy for victims and the identification of normative gaps, and promote the action of the different actors involved in the business and human rights governance. All of these would lead to a decrease of impunity but also to an array of lessons learned that can be an important tool for further developments in the field<sup>299</sup>.

It is important that WG uses its power to issue recommendations in a meaningful way. The recommendations provided in its reports shall not be mere restatements of the content of the UNGPs, which seems to have happened in the 2013 Report<sup>300</sup>. It shall be recognised that the more recent report<sup>301</sup> shows improvements on this point, being more focused in action than in policy.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup> A/HRC/RES/17/4, 6 July 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>296</sup> Addo, 2014, p.136.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup> Idem, p.137. For a complete description of the mandate of the WG: A/HRC/RES/17/4, 6 July 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>298</sup> As an example of this criticism: Dejusticia, Conectas, Justicia Global, 'Working Group on the Issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises: A review of the first two-and-a-half years of work', pp.3-4, November 2013, available at <a href="http://conectas.org/arquivos/editor/files/6">http://conectas.org/arquivos/editor/files/6</a> Dej Con JG WG2years Nov2013.pdf (last consulted 25 June 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> In the same direction: De La Vega, Mehra, Wong, 2011, pp.10-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>300</sup> A/HRC/23/32, 14 March 2013.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>301</sup> A/HRC/26/25, 5 May 2014.

As a consequence of the above, both the OHCHR and the WG shall have a central role in the coordination and cohesion of UN action regarding business and human rights.

The different UN agencies can provide specific contributions taking into account their areas of work. An encompassing business and human rights action involves different affected groups and needs. The agencies, due to their specialized work, position on the field and networks can provide meaningful contribution in the process of incorporation of such specific concerns<sup>302</sup>.

The same can be said about the UN Special Procedures, being them either thematically or geographically oriented. They are especially suited to make a connection with particular groups of right-holders, regions, rights and topics<sup>303</sup>. It is important that they are not only sensitive to questions related to business human rights impact during their activities, but also that their work and experience can be used in a coordinated fashion by the overall structure<sup>304</sup>. I also believe that, more than addressing exclusively the implementation of the UNGPs, these mandate holders can have an important role in identifying gaps and situations of corporate-related human rights abuses, and in providing contributions to the evolution of the business and human rights framework in a more general way.

I already dealt with the UNTBs<sup>305</sup>, providing an overview of their action regarding business and human rights. Despite the limitations that are inherent to their mandates and of the non-legally binding nature of the outcomes of their work, these bodies are in a particular good position to address State duties regarding corporate activities and related human rights abuses. With their reviews, general comments and by handling of individual complaints, their statements can have important political impact and lead to consequences in policy making<sup>306</sup>. The Human Rights Committee already requested, in the list of issues regarding Ireland's reporting for 2014, the country to "provide information on how the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>302</sup> A/HRC/23/32, 14 March 2013, pp.6, 10-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>303</sup> Idem, p.6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>304</sup> Idem, p.9.

<sup>305</sup> Supra Chapter II.2.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>306</sup> A/HRC/23/32, 14 March 2013, p.6.

Government addresses concerns regarding the activities of private businesses based in the State party that may lead to violations of the Covenant outside the territory of the State party."<sup>307</sup>

In addition, the specialised agencies, the Special Procedures and the UNTBs can also have an important role in identifying and addressing the needs of particularly vulnerable groups to corporate related human rights abuses (e.g. women, children, human rights defenders, migrant workers...). This is of particular relevance as it is a task that the UNGPs do not fulfil in a meaningful manner<sup>308</sup>.

The Universal Periodic Review is also relevant. As stated by the UNSG: "In their submissions for the present report, some states proposed incorporating reporting on the duty to protect against corporate-related human rights abuse – the first pillar of the Guiding Principles – in the universal periodic review. Doing so, would facilitate a more systematic collection of information on State efforts to implement the Guiding Principles. Civil society may also contribute to the universal periodic review and treaty body processes by using the Principles as benchmarks in their submissions."

In fact, the majority of these last proposals had already been advanced by Jerbi as possible prospective developments even before the endorsement of the UNGPs (but after the endorsement of the Protect, Respect and Remedy Framework): "It is reasonable to conclude that there will be follow-up, both in terms of recommendations for further action in Ruggie's future reports and increased scrutiny of government performance during reviews by treaty body committees, following country visits by special procedures mandate holders and as part of the UN Human Rights Council's newly established Universal Periodic Review mechanism."

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>307</sup> CCPR/C/IRL/Q/4, 22 November 2013. Additional information on the topic can also be found at: <a href="http://businesshumanrightsireland.wordpress.com/2013/11/15/un-human-rights-committee-requests-information-on-business-and-human-rights/">http://businesshumanrightsireland.wordpress.com/2013/11/15/un-human-rights-committee-requests-information-on-business-and-human-rights/</a> (last consulted 29 June 2014). In general; Jägers, 2002, p.257.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>308</sup> De La Vega, Mehra, Wong, 2011, p.8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>309</sup> A/HRC/23/32, 14 March 2013, p.9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>310</sup> Jerbi, 2009, p.314.

Regarding the field personnel, developing activities at regional and country levels, they are in a privileged position to develop capacity-building, promote dialogue and to gather relevant information.<sup>311</sup>

The UNGC shall be seen as a direct point of gathering of the different stakeholders inside the UN structure<sup>312</sup>. The advantages and roles of the initiative are also addressed by the UNSG<sup>313</sup>.

Finally, the proposed systematisation of UN action involvers "outside" actors: X Regional Actors and NHRIs. The regional organisations can provide a mediation role and help in the adjustments to regional realities. Some of the European Union (EU) and Council of Europe (CoE) initiatives regarding business and human rights will be developed *infra*<sup>314</sup>. The main idea to bear in mind in this regard is that the different levels of regulation shall interact among themselves and that, regional actors, taking into account their specificities and different implementation mechanisms can be used as motors to the implementation of the UNGPs and to the advance of business and human rights in general.

It is important to address NHRIs as well. These institutions are referred in the UNGPs regarding different contexts (namely, as sources of guidance for both States and companies and as a possible non-judicial grievance mechanism). NHRIs<sup>315</sup> can be extremely valuable not only in guaranteeing the coherence of state policies and actions but also in acting as focal points for guidance, in making the connection with the regional and international levels and promoting national dialogue between the different stakeholders. In addition, it seems that, if properly framed with international and regional actors, they can be a valuable resource at the capacity-building level<sup>316</sup>.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>311</sup> A/HRC/23/32, 14 March 2013, pp.9-10; Jerbi, 2009, pp.314-315.

<sup>312</sup> About the potential role of the UNGC vide supra Chapter II.1.c.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>313</sup> A/HRC/23/32, 14 March 2013, namely: pp.6-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup> *Infra* Chapter IV.3.b.

For more on the role of NHRIs regarding business and human rights *vide infra* chapter IV.3.c.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>316</sup> A/HRC/23/32, 14 March 2013, p.21.

#### b) Regional level: the Council of Europe and the European Union

As actors with different available tools and a closer understanding of the region's reality regional organisations are particularly well positioned to promote regional dialogue, to define collective strategies and, depending on the organisation, to provide for normative and jurisdictional advancements.

I will focus on the European level in order to briefly analyse the relevance of the two regional actors dealing with human rights and their potential role in the future of business and human rights. This is so because, as it is well known, both the EU and the CoE are involved with human rights but they have different roles, tools and possibilities of action.

#### i. The Council of Europe

As an international organisation comprising 47 countries in the European region and having as central focus the promotion of human rights, rule of law and democracy, it is reasonable to consider that the CoE should also have a role on the issue of business and human rights.

I already analysed the role of the ECtHR (one of the CoE's institutions) and its relevance as a grievance mechanism in the field of business and human rights<sup>317</sup>. The possibilities for the future regarding this body are not easy to predict and there are restrictions inherent to the character of its jurisdiction (only can receive cases against states).

The question here is what can be done in the CoE's structure as a whole to contribute to the evolution of business and human rights. In 2010, the Parliamentary Assembly of the CoE adopted one resolution and one recommendation on the topic, and, in 2011, the Committee of Ministers requested the realisation of a study on the feasibility and the added value of new standard-setting work to the Steering Committee on Human Rights<sup>318</sup>. The result was two documents: the 'Draft Preliminary study on Corporate Social Responsibility:

\_

<sup>317</sup> Supra chapter II.2.b.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>318</sup> Information available at:

http://www.coe.int/t/dghl/standardsetting/hrpolicy/other committees/hr and business/default EN. asp.

Existing Standards and Outstanding issues' and a 'Feasibility study on corporate social responsibility in the field of human rights' 20.

Taking into account the aim of determining whether there was a need to adopt an additional non-binding standard at the CoE level, in the first study, the Steering Committee provided an extensive overview of the different documents and initiatives at the international, regional and national level and also of the jurisdictional treatment gave to business and human rights related issues. The "problem of extraterritoriality" was also dealt with 321. The main conclusion was as follows: "The present preliminary analysis of existing standards allows already to identify some issues on which a feasibility study may focus as a matter of priority, such as the concept of corporate social responsibility, the scope and addressees of a possible new Council of Europe instrument (States and/or businesses), some thematic areas (such as children's rights, the Internet, bioethics, data protection), and some "horizontal" issues (for instance access to remedies for victims of violations, jurisdiction issues), bearing in mind the relation with existing Council of Europe and international standards." 322

This was the ground for the following Feasibility Study where, after analysing specific issues, the Steering Committee proposed an array of measures that may be taken by the CoE in order to make a contribution to business and human rights. The proposed measures go from raising awareness of the Member States to the UNGPs, addressing the question of gaps at the regional level (namely in the accountability realm), addressing the responsibility of corporation in the context of targeted policies of the CoE and dissemination of good practices<sup>323</sup>. A final important remark is made regarding the need to cooperate with other institutions such as the EU, international organisations and NHRIs<sup>324</sup>.

The most prominent result of all this work and subsequent meeting of the Steering Committee for Human Rights Drafting Group on Business and Human Rights,

<sup>110</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>319</sup> Council of Europe – Steering Committee for Human Rights, 2012 (a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>320</sup> Council of Europe – Steering Committee for Human Rights, 2012 (b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>321</sup> Council of Europe – Steering Committee for Human Rights, 2012 (a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>322</sup> Idem, p.18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>323</sup> Council of Europe – Steering Committee for Human Rights, 2012 (b), pp.20-21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>324</sup> Ibidem.

was the adoption of the Declaration of the Committee of Ministers on the UNGPs, on 16 July 2014<sup>325</sup>.

Despite of the fact that t is a good indicator that the Committee of Ministers decided to take some action in this field, the Declaration does not add much (if something) to the current panorama of business and human rights. Essentially, it shows support for the Guiding Principles and calls the Member States to act in accordance to with their content and to develop national action plans (NAPs)<sup>326</sup>.

It seems that a major challenge for the whole CoE structure in the short-term will be to determine the areas where its action can provide added value to this field. Taking into account the referred documents and the scope of the institution, it seems that a priority area of intervention shall be the clarification of State duties and the difficulties regarding access to justice by victims. Furthermore, as stated in the Feasibility Study, it also seems a relevant to determine the main fields of action taking into account the scope and activities of other organisations in order to maximize results.

### ii. The European Union

The EU quickly became a strong supporter of the UNGPs. After their endorsement by the HRC, the Commission issued a Communication regarding its strategy for Corporate Social Responsibility for 2011-2014<sup>327</sup>.

In that strategy, the Commission defined four main lines of action regarding the implementation of the UNGPs – the first two concerning its direct action and the last two regarding Member States action: i. "Work with enterprises and stakeholders in 2012 to develop human rights guidance for a limited number of relevant industrial sectors, as well as guidance for small and medium-sized enterprises, based on the UN Guiding Principles."; ii. "Publish by the end of 2012

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>325</sup> Council of Europe Committee of Ministers, *Declaration of the Committee of Ministers on the UN Guiding Principles on business and human rights*.

<sup>326</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>327</sup> Addo, 2014, p.141; European Commission, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions – A renewed EU strategy 2011-14 for Corporate Social Responsibility, 2011.

a report on EU priorities in the implementation of the UN Guiding Principles, and thereafter to issue periodic progress reports."; "The Commission also: [iii] Expects all European enterprises to meet the corporate responsibility to respect human rights, as defined in the UN Guiding Principles" and iv. "invites EU Member States to develop by the end of 2012 national plans for the implementation of the UN Guiding Principles." 328

The Commission issued guiding materials for smaller business and for specific sectors (employment and recruitment agencies, information and communication technology, and oil and gas)<sup>329</sup>. The National Action Plans (NAPs) were also an innovative tool that is now starting to be used widely, with the WG endorsing the creation of such documents, creating an online database for them and making them one of its key areas of action.

The most recent and probably most prominent initiative regarding business and human rights at the EU level was the adoption, by the European Parliament of the proposal for a directive regarding non-financial reporting of companies that took place on 15 April 2014<sup>330</sup>. This much awaited piece of legislation determines that listed institutions (the so-called "public interest entities") in the EU, employing more than 500 persons, have to issue, on an annual basis, a statement containing information that allows to assess the non-financial (including human rights) of their activities<sup>331</sup>.

The inclusion of human rights matters and of the concept of due diligence in the field of non-financial reporting has to be considered as a progress in corporate accountability regarding human rights. Moreover, the directive echoes the UNGPs

<sup>2</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>328</sup> European Commission, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions – A renewed EU strategy 2011-14 for Corporate Social Responsibility, 2011, p.14.
<sup>329</sup> All documents are available for download at: <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sustainable-">http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sustainable-</a>

All documents are available for download at: <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sustainable-business/documents/corporate-social-responsibility/index\_en.htm">http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sustainable-business/documents/corporate-social-responsibility/index\_en.htm</a>.

European Parliament, 'European Parliament legislative resolution of 15 April 2014 on the proposal for a directive of the European Parliament and of the Council amending Council Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC as regards disclosure of non-financial and diversity information by certain large companies and groups (COM(2013)0207 – C7-0103/2013 – 2013/0110(COD))', document P7\_TA-PROV(2014)04-15, 15 April 2014. The proposal is now waiting for Council approval.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>331</sup> Idem, pp.328-329.

and follows a line of much needed coherence between different regulatory instruments. Despite some of the shortcomings already identified by the European Coalition for Corporate Justice<sup>332</sup>, namely the reduced number of enterprises that fall into the reporting scope and the lack of more concrete guidance regarding the reporting process (though here we must consider that it will be up to the Commission to draft orientation guidelines and that a legislative act will not be able, by itself to go into very detailed and technical issues<sup>333</sup>), this directive is an achievement at the regulatory level. The disclosure of the required information (such as: the description of the business structure, leading policies regarding non-financial issues and due diligence mechanisms, results and risk assessments<sup>334</sup>) can provide useful tools for the different actors involved in business and human rights and improve compliance<sup>335</sup>.

It is also important to underline that an important part of the final success of the non-financial reporting procedures will lie on the willingness of states once it is up to them to incorporate the provisions of the directive into their national legislation. Doing so will require them to make choices that may determine the relevance of the process<sup>336</sup>. For instance, both monitoring and enforcement will depend on the decisions of States<sup>337</sup>. It will be interesting to see how far they are willing to go in these particularly relevant aspects because without meaningful monitoring and enforcement, the reporting obligations (just like the obligations imposed on companies by the UNGPs) will hardly have any real impact.

It will probably still take a long time until the European Court of Justice has the opportunity to address cases related to this directive, the transposition and reporting requirements but it will be interesting to see what kind of position this judicial body will follow. If a progressive approach will be taken by the Court, it

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>332</sup>European Coalition for Corporate Justice, 2014, pp.2-3.

Caroline Rees, 'Pointing the Way Forwards on Non-Financial Reporting', available at: <a href="http://shiftproject.org/article/pointing-way-forwards-non-financial-reporting">http://shiftproject.org/article/pointing-way-forwards-non-financial-reporting</a> (last consulted 26 June 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>334</sup> Cf.supra footnote 338, p.3.

<sup>335</sup> Ibidem.

European Coalition for Corporate Justice, 2014, p.4; Caroline Rees, 'Pointing the Way Forwards on Non-Financial Reporting', available at: <a href="http://shiftproject.org/article/pointing-way-forwards-non-financial-reporting">http://shiftproject.org/article/pointing-way-forwards-non-financial-reporting</a> (last consulted 26 June 2014).

European Coalition for Corporate Justice, 2014, p.2.

is likely that progress can be achieved by its jurisprudence. It would not be a novelty to have the Court moving forward the topic of fundamental rights in the EU.

It is clear that the EU can have a very important role on taking business and human rights further. It has a particular privileged role to act among its Member States in order to push for the implementation of the UNGPs; it can act as a coherence element between Member States policies, and facilitate multistakeholder dialogue<sup>338</sup>. If the EU makes use of its regulatory powers it can reach specific sectors and enhance requirements that will have a regional impact and reflex consequences at the global level (as they will be shaping the activities of European corporations).

Furthermore, it can also use its position at the international level to promote business and human rights. As stated in the last Forum on Business and Human Rights, "the EU is dedicated to a two-pronged approach: first, to ensure that the Guiding Principles are fully understood and adhered to at European Union level; and second, to promote their implementation through its external action." The role of the EU in external promotion of human rights is not a novelty. However, it is important to bear in mind that its legitimacy to deal with the issues connected to business and human rights at the external level will depend on the action taken at the internal level too. We cannot forget that a wide number of multinational corporations are headquartered in Member States of the Union. So far, for instance, the EU and its Member States have not showed support to the development of an international binding instrument. The EU must not look to the UNGPs as the definite and perfect regulation for business and human rights. It is never enough to restate that working for the implementation of the UNGPs does not have to avoid the consideration of future measures, especially initiatives with a binding nature, capable of addressing the gaps that persist in the field of business and human rights.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>338</sup> All of these aspects were referred to in Statement of the European Union at the second UN Business and Human Rights Forum, December 2013, available at <a href="http://eeas.europa.eu/delegations/un\_geneva/documents/eu\_statements/human\_right/2013-1203">http://eeas.europa.eu/delegations/un\_geneva/documents/eu\_statements/human\_right/2013-1203</a> forum buz hr-panel-i.pdf (last consulted 25 June 2014), pp.2-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>339</sup> Idem, p.2.

## c) National level: National Human Rights Institutions

NHRIs "are independent, public bodies with broad mandates in national law to promote and protect human rights" they are "state-founded, independent, and pluralistic national bodies established by law and mandated to promote and protect human rights at the national level." The ones aligned with the Paris Principles (defined by the UN General Assembly in 1993) were attributed important functions under the UNGPs which justifies the need to address them in this context.

NHRIs can assume very different structures and develop distinct mandates<sup>343</sup> which make it difficult to address specific recommendations that apply to the whole range of bodies that the concept encompasses.

These institutions are already engaged in the field of business and human rights. Their work regarding this topic started in 2008 with the organization of a roundtable on the issue<sup>344</sup>, followed by the creation of a specialized Working Group on the topic (2009)<sup>345</sup>. The International Coordination Committee promoted the adoption, in 2010, of the Edinburgh Declaration, recognising their relevance in this field at the different geographical levels and their interest to further engage on the area<sup>346</sup>.

The NHRIs were involved in the drafting process of the Protect, Respect and Remedy Framework and the UNGPs<sup>347</sup> and, were successful in making the point that the institutions could have relevant impacts in the context of the three different pillars<sup>348</sup>. The role of NHRIs in the UNGPs is referred to in the context

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>340</sup> International Coordination Committee of National Institutions for the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights Working Group on Business and Human Rights, *Business and Human Rights 101: A National Human Rights Institution Primer*, available at <a href="http://nhri.ohchr.org/EN/ICC/BureauMeeting/052013/Item%207%20Sub%20Committee%20on%20Accreditation%20Report/BHR%20101%20Fact%20Sheet%20-%20English%20PDF.pdf">http://nhri.ohchr.org/EN/ICC/BureauMeeting/052013/Item%207%20Sub%20Committee%20on%20Accreditation%20Report/BHR%20101%20Fact%20Sheet%20-%20English%20PDF.pdf</a> (last consulted 24 June 2014), p.1

<sup>341</sup> Haász, 2013, p.166.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>342</sup> A/RES/48/134, 20 December 1993.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>343</sup> Haász, 2013, p.167 and Faracik, 2012, p.9-11.

<sup>344</sup> Haász, 2013, p.173.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>345</sup> Ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>346</sup> Faracik, 2012, p.17.

<sup>347</sup> Haász, 2013, pp.174-175.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>348</sup> Idem, p.175.

of the three pillars, namely on GP3 (State duty to protect – more specifically in the context of the general state regulatory and policy functions), GP23 (corporate responsibility to respect – issues of context) and GPs 25 and 27 (access to remedy - foundational principle and state-based non-judicial grievance mechanisms)<sup>349</sup>.

The measures undertaken by different NHRIs in this field are multiple and varied, and there are various examples of procedures and actions being developed in the structures<sup>350</sup>. Based on that, but also on the suggestions provided by the commentaries to the UNGPs, the literature on the topic, and on the general structure and mandates of the NHRIs aligned with the Paris Principles, some directions can be pointed on the role that NHRIs can have on business and human rights mainstreaming. This can happen both in a bottom-up and in the inverse direction, due to the role these institutions have at the international level.

These institutions might have an important role per se, acting individually in their own countries but also as a whole, in the context of the established group regarding business and human rights and of the regional networks (which can be highly relevant both in their contact with the WG and with the regional institutions, for instance)<sup>351</sup>. Regarding, individual action, they can be determinant in reaching the national level of implementation, which is particularly important in the field of business and human rights. As pointed out by Haász, they can develop important preventive functions<sup>352</sup>. The referred author mentions this feature when comparing NHRIs action with courts but it seems that this can be applied to all the fields of intervention of NHRIs. By providing assistance to the different stakeholders and acting as dynamic structures, NHRIs can easily contribute to avoid future human rights violations by corporate actors and violations of the State duty to protect regarding corporate actors.

NHRIs seem especially well placed to promote the mainstreaming of business and human rights in the national structures. This involves all the governmental and non-governmental institutions that directly or not are involved with trade,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>349</sup> Haász, 2013, pp.176-177.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>350</sup> Multiple examples and an overview of best practices can be found in Faracik, 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>351</sup> Haász, 2013, pp.177-179; Faracik, 2012, p.21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>352</sup> Haász, 2013, p.172.

investment and corporations in general. In the State context, their action might be important to avoid that human rights matters remain encapsulated in departments that cannot reach other relevant governmental agencies that deal directly with business, for instance.

Working with the legislative bodies in order to access the human rights compliance of future and current legislation on human rights is a particularly important task, especially taking into account the amount of branches of law that can have an impact in the field of business and human rights<sup>353</sup>. Also suggestions for necessary legislation may be advanced<sup>354</sup>. This advisory and supervisory role might also be important in helping governments understanding the potential impacts on human rights of the positions they take in intergovernmental organisations related to trade and finance, for instance<sup>355</sup>.

It is worth to mention that, taking into account the forthcoming EU Directive on non-financial disclosure and the need for transposition of its content to the national laws, the NHRIs can also have an important role, assuring that it is processed in a manner that enhances rights protection.

A proposal advanced by Faracik that also deserves attention is the potential role on these institutions in the development of overall national strategies, for instance by a close involvement in the drafting of NAPs.<sup>356</sup>

With regard to action in the context of the corporate responsibility to respect, NHRIs may be well positioned to provide advice, capacity-building and translating more general recommendations to practical instruments<sup>357</sup>, taking into account the specific needs and characteristics of the companies and the country concerned<sup>358</sup>.

355 Faracik, 2012, pp.20-21; Cf. supra footnote, p.4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>353</sup> HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, Commentary to GP3, p.6; Haász, 2013, p.180; Faracik, Beata, 2012, pp.20-21.

<sup>354</sup> Cf. supra footnote 351, p.4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>356</sup> Faracik, 2012, p.21; Haász, 2013, pp.172, 182.

<sup>357</sup> Cf. supra footnote 351, p.4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>358</sup> Faracik, 2012, p.21.

It is not the aim of this heading to go into an exhaustive list of possible action of NHRIs (also because as previously mentioned that also depends largely on the specific institution and its mandate and structure) but it shall be clear that these institutions may well be a central piece in the field of business and human rights. At least two more possible roles should be highlighted. First, they can work as "platforms for dialogue" among the different stakeholders<sup>359</sup>. Secondly, it seems that they may be very well positioned to, in cooperation with other stakeholders (academia, for instance) develop studies on specific sectors and their human rights performance, being then able to provide specific recommendations and to engage in dialogues with the business sector<sup>360</sup>.

As pointed out by Faracik and Haász, the intervention of NHRIs in the context of the third pillar is not as direct and clear as the previous ones<sup>361</sup> as not all of them can handle individual complaints<sup>362</sup>. In addition, it should be stated that even when NHRIs have such competences, it is essential to make sure that they respect the requirements established in GP31 and to guarantee that they are coherently integrated in the remedy structure in order to make them meaningful and effective. In the cases where the mandate of NHRIs does not allow them to act as a grievance mechanism (and maybe even in such cases), they can develop an important work raising awareness and disseminating the available remedies at the national and international level<sup>363</sup>. Moreover, as pointed by FARACIK, "NHRIs can also identify obstacles to the access to justice for the victims of human rights abuses by businesses operating in, or registered in, the national jurisdiction"<sup>364</sup>

Despite all of the potential of these institutions to foster the dialogue around future developments on business and human rights, the process is not easy. They face important challenges. First, the general broad mandate in accordance with the Paris Principles, that is one important feature in order for them to be able to act in the business and human rights field, obliges them to act in different areas and they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>359</sup> Idem, p.22; cf. supra footnote 351, p.4.

A suggestion advanced by Haász, using the United Kingdom as an example - Haász, 2013, p.180; cf. supra footnote 351, p.4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>361</sup> Faracik, 2012m p.20 and Haász, 2013, p.176.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>362</sup> Haász, 2013, p.176.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>363</sup> Cf.supra footnote 351, p.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>364</sup> Faracik, 2012, p.22; in the same line of reasoning: cf. supra footnote 351, p.4.

cannot devote all their efforts and resources to business and human rights. Second, there is the problem of funding of the institutions (as a broader mandate requires larger resources)<sup>365</sup>. Finally, they often have to deal with lack of expertise in this area<sup>366</sup>. This reinforces the idea that business and human rights are still an area requiring a lot of awareness raising, proper dissemination and capacity-building. This is true not only for States, companies and international organisations, but also for the national institutions primary responsible for the promotion of human rights.

We can then conclude that, despite the challenges inherent to the tasks related to the work in the business and human rights field, NHRIs may have (at least in some cases) to overcome practical difficulties in order to be active and meaningful actors in this area. This does not mean, however, that they should be not taken into account and empowered. On the contrary, it seems clear that these institutions can have an essential role in a multi-layered system of regulation and implementation and are well positioned (at least in abstract) to be meaningful actors in the business and human rights field.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>365</sup> Haász, 2013, pp.183, 185. <sup>366</sup> Idem, p.183.

#### V. Conclusion

Throughout this thesis, an overview was given of the current framework on business and human rights. This was combined with a critical analysis of the different documents, initiatives and elements and with an array of suggestions to achieve better protection and effective remedies to corporate-related human rights abuses.

In chapter II, the framework previous to the endorsement of the UNGPs was analysed. The main findings of this chapter were that the system lacks strength in the sense that it is based on non-legally binding standards and voluntary initiatives. Moreover, it lacked comprehensive norms, embracing the business sector as a whole and all the internationally recognised human rights. Finally, the absence of effective grievance mechanisms and the difficulties in acceding to remedies were pointed as one of the key factors for the lack of meaningful protection in this field. The challenge ahead was to understand whether or not the UNGPs, as the latest and outstanding normative framework on business and human rights were capable to solve these issues and represent significant improvements.

The UNGPs were analysed in chapter III and different proposals for implementation were gathered regarding both State and corporate action. It was concluded that the UNGPs have multiple merits and represent, in many senses, a move forward in this field. In fact, the SRSG was able to involve the different stakeholders, to create a baseline agreement, and, by the studies and the research that was done in the context of its mandate, to improve the knowledge on this field as well. Moreover, they encouraged multiple organisations to line up their standards with their content, increasing coherence and leading to improvements in some companies. Even though they provided for a common standard at the international level, they have various flaws that impair meaningful advances. They lack legally binding status and the responsibilities of companies were constructed over a social norm, without a legal ground. It can also be said that in some aspects they were not progressive enough, probably staying behind some of the latest advances in human rights. Most importantly, despite of having a chapter

exclusively focused on access to remedies, the UNGPs do not have any monitoring or remediation mechanism or attempt to solve the main barriers faced by victims in acceding to grievance mechanisms. My conclusion was, therefore, that the UNGPs only answered to a part of the issues that need to be solved in business and human rights and that further action is essential to provide a consistent system of protection in this field.

Regarding the implementation of the UNGPs, it was ascertained that success will depend, to a large extent on the action of States. They remain as the focal point of obligations and it is up to them to give strength and to enforce the responsibilities imposed on corporations. The facilitation of access to remedies by victims of corporate human rights abuses shall be a priority and legislation and policies shall be accessed, changed and drafted accordingly.

This is not necessarily a criticism to the former SRSG work. If it is indeed true that in some areas the flaws of the UNGPs are related to policy options, in other cases they are merely the result of the complexity of the reality of business and human rights.

Another matter that requires attention is the development of indicators and measurement of human rights performance of companies. This is part of the process to facilitate monitoring but is also important to clarify demands and to improve accountability of corporate actors. This seems to be an area to focus on in the future due to its great potential but that also requires a careful development, especially due to the lack of clarity that still exists regarding the human rights obligations of corporate actors and to the need to overcome practical difficulties, inherent to the process of translating human rights compliance into the measurement language.

Taking into account the need for further action and the current debates, the last chapter focused on the ways forward for business and human rights. Challenges and prospective developments were highlighted both to long-term (the creation of an international legally binding instrument) and to mid and short-term action (advancements in the different levels of action – international, regional and

national – aiming to maximize the potential of existing structures and initiatives). It was verified that the debate regarding a legally binding instrument shall be conducted but that such an instrument cannot be an aim in itself. It has to represent added value to the current frameworks and its content and scope have to be clearly defined. It will definitely be a long and hard process, a realization that can already be perceived from the last session of the HRC, the voting of the resolutions regarding business and human rights and the posterior reactions. However, once the treaty is not an aim in itself and the process is likely to be lengthy, the existing structures and avenues cannot stop their work regarding business and human rights. And there are multiple ways to do so. In addition to the internal actions of states and the changes that are available for corporations, it is important to bring the up the topic both at the international and regional level as well. Pathways to those processes in the UN structure, in the EU and in the CoE were highlighted. Finally, there is another group of actors that can be an important element on business and human rights – the NHRIs. Despite of the variety of their mandates and practical difficulties that were analysed, if geared with proper expertise and resources, the NHRIs can develop a very important role, helping the different actors in this area, for instance, by assessing state policies and laws and proposing changes, by providing guidance to companies on the proper actions to take in order to respect and foster human rights and by helping victims in acceding to remedies for violations. In some cases, making them able to act will require broadening their mandates and increase their funding.

It is clear that the discussion regarding business and human rights is not even close to an end. There are multiple issues to tackle: from the gaps of the UNGPs, to the future developments, passing through the difficulties in the UNGPs' implementation. One of the main reflections that I take from my research is that any advance on this field requires action of different stakeholders, at different levels and in different scopes of action. This is an area where the traditional human rights system needs to be readjusted and methodologies and strategies have to be appropriate to the context of work. This starts with engagement of the different stakeholders and with the mainstream of the basic idea that the discussions regarding business and human rights cannot be grounded on the idea

of the Good vs. the Evil. Considering the characteristics of today's world and the specific needs regarding business and human rights, addressing the problems effectively requires action that involves not only the States but also the regional and international organizations, the business sector, the civil society and victims themselves. Fragmentation and lack of cohesion are two of the main obstacles to meaningful protection against corporate related human rights abuses.

It will not be an easy task to overcome the political issues that involve this field of human rights in particular but it seems clear that there is a need for International Human Rights Law to adjust itself, its processes and mechanisms. One thing is clear: this is a global problem. In order to be appropriately addressed, it requires inclusiveness and actions at different levels, including at the international.

I was not able to provide one answer to the problems of business and human rights but I do not see that as a failure. On the contrary, I believe that is the result of the wide array of issues that are still pending and demanding urgent attention. In addition, it is also the reflection of the need to act in multiple levels, involve different actors and to explore different options as no measure, by itself, will be able to deal with the complexity and with the challenges that this area poses to international human rights law.

## VI. Bibliography

#### **Books, Articles and Studies**

Aaronson, Susan Ariel, Higham, Ian, "Re-righting Business": John Ruggie and the Struggle to Develop International Human Rights Standards for Transnational Firms', pp. 333-364, in *Human Rights Quarterly*, vol. 35, no. 2, 2013.

Addo, Michael K., 'The Reality of the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights', pp. 133-144, in *Human Rights Law Review*, 14, 2014.

Albin-Lackey, Christopher, 'Without Rules – A failed Approach to Corporate Accountability', available at <a href="http://www.hrw.org/world-report/2013/essays/112459">http://www.hrw.org/world-report/2013/essays/112459</a> (last consulted 21 June 2014).

Alston, Philip (ed.), *Non-State Actors and Human Rights*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2005.

Alston, Philip, Godman, Ryan, *International Human Rights – The successor to International Human Rights in context*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2013.

Avery, Chris, 'The difference between CSR and human rights', p.4, in *Corporate Cirizenship Briefing*, issue 89, 2006

Backer, Larry Catá, 'On the Evolution on the United Nations' "Protect-Respect-Remedy" Project: The State, the Corporation and Human Rights in a Global Governance Context', pp.37-80, in *Santa Clara Journal of International Law*, 9:1, 2011.

Beauchamp, Brenkert, *The Oxford Handbook of Business Ethics*, New York: Oxford University Press, 2010.

Bernaz, Nadia, 'Enhancing Corporate Accountability for Human Rights Violations: Is extraterritoriality the Magic Potion?', pp.493-511, in *Journal of Business Ethics*, 117, 2013.

Biljmakers, Stephanie, 'Business and human rights governance and democratic legitimacy: the UN "Protect, Respect and Remedy" Framework and the Guiding Principles', pp.288-301, in *Innovation: The European Journal of Social Science Research*, vol. 26, no. 3, 2013.

Bishop, John Douglas, 'The Limits of Corporate Human Rights Obligations and the Rights of For-Profit Corporations', pp.119-144, in *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 22:1, 2012.

Blitt, Robert, 'Beyond Ruggie's Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights: Charting an Embracive Approach to Corporate Human Rights Compliance', pp.33-62, in *Texas International Law Journal*, vol.48:33, 2012-2013.

Boele, Richard, Crispin, Christine, 'What direction for human rights impact assessments?', pp. 128-134, in *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 31:2, 2013.

Buhmann, Karin, 'Damned If You Do, Damned If You Don't? The Lundbeck Case of the Pentobarbital, the Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights and Competing Human Rights Responsibilities', pp.206-219, in *Journal of Law, Medicine and Ethics*, 2012.

Buhmann, Karin, 'Business and Human Rights: Understanding the UN Guiding Principles from the Perspective of Transnational Business Governance Interactions', in *Osgoode Hall Law School Legal Studies Research Paper Series*, Research paper no.20/2014, Vol.10, No.6, 2014.

Clapham, Andrew (ed.), *Human Rights Obligations of Non-State Actors*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2006.

Cragg, Wesley, 'Ethics, Enlightened Self-Interest, and the Corporate Responsibility to Respect Human Rights: A Critical Look at the Justificatory Foundations of the UN Framework', pp.9-36, in *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 22:1, 2012.

Davitti, Daria, 'On the Meanings of International Investment Law and International Human Rights Law: The Alternative Narrative of Due Diligence', pp.421-453, in *Human Rights Law Review*, 12:3, 2012.

De Felice, Damiano, 'Challenges and opportunities in the production of business and human rights indicators to measure the corporate responsibility to respect', to be published in *Human Rights Quarterly*, vol.37, issue 2, May 2015, available at <a href="http://ssrn.com/abstract=2423305">http://ssrn.com/abstract=2423305</a> (last consulted 8 July 2014).

de Feyter, Koen, 'Globalisation and Human Rights', pp.51-96, in Filipe Gómez Isa and Koen de Feyter (eds), *International Human Rights Law in a Global Context*. Bilbao: University of Deusto, 2009.

De La Vega, Connie, Mehra, Amol, Wong, Alexandra, 'Holding Business Accountable for Human Rights Violations – Recent Developments and Next Steps', *International Policy Analysis* - Friedrich Ebert Stiftung, 2011.

De Schutter, Oliver (ed.), *Transnational Corporations and Human Rights*, Oxford: Hart Publishing, 2006.

Demuijnck, Geert, Björn, Fasterling, 'Human rights in the Void? Due Diligence in the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights', pp.799-814, in *Journal of Business Ethics*, 116, 2013.

Deva, Surya, 'Acting extraterritorially to tame multinational corporations for human rights violations: who should 'bell the cat'?', pp.37-65, in *Melbourne Journal of International Law*, vol.5, no.1, 2004.

Deva, Surya, 'Global Compact: A critique of the UN's «Public-Private» Partnership for Promoting Corporate Citizenship', pp.107-151, in *Syracuse Journal of International Law and Commerce*, vol.34, 2006(a).

Deva, Surya, 'The UN Global Compact for responsible corporate citizenship: is it still too compact to be global?', pp.145-190, in *The Corporate Governance Law Review*, vol.2, no.2, 2006(b).

Deva, Surya, 'Yahoo! For Good and the Right to Privacy of Internet Users: A Critique', pp. 3-10, in *Journal of Internet Law*, 11:9, 2008.

Deva, Surya, 'Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights: Implications for Companies', pp. 101-109, in *European Company Law 9*, no.2, 2012.

Deva, Surya, 'The Human Rights Obligations of Business: Reimaging the Treaty Business', extended version of the paper presented at the Workshop on *Human Rights and Transnational Corporations: Paving the Way for a Legally Binding Instrument*, organised by the Permanent Missions of Ecuador and South Africa to the UN, 12 March 2014, available at <a href="http://business-humanrights.org/media/documents/reimagine int\_law for bhr.pdf">http://business-humanrights.org/media/documents/reimagine int\_law for bhr.pdf</a> (last consulted 26 June 2014).

Faracik, Beata, Study – The role of Non-EU National Human Rights Institutions in the Implementation of the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, with a focus on Eastern Partnership Countries, EXPO/B/DROI/2012/08, 2012, available at <a href="http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/etudes/join/2012/457112/EXPO-DROI\_ET(2012)457112\_EN.pdf">http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/etudes/join/2012/457112/EXPO-DROI\_ET(2012)457112\_EN.pdf</a> (last consulted 25 June 2014).

Graf, Andreas, *Developing National Action Plans on Business and Human Rights*, Bern: Swisspeace, 2013, available at <a href="http://www.swisspeace.ch/fileadmin/user\_upload/Media/Publications/Essentials/Essential\_4\_2013.pdf">http://www.swisspeace.ch/fileadmin/user\_upload/Media/Publications/Essentials/Essential\_4\_2013.pdf</a> (last consulted 22 March 2014).

Gerber, Paula, Kyriakakis, Joanna, O'Byrne, Katie, 'General Comment 16 on State Obligations Regarding the Impact of the Business Sector on Children's rights: What is its standing, meaning and effect?', pp.93-128, in *Melbourne Journal of International Law*, vol.14, 2013.

Graetz, Geordan, Franks, Daniel M., 'Incorporating human rights into the corporate domain: due diligence, impact assessment and integrated risk management', pp.97-106, in *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 31:2; 2013.

Green, Maria, 'What We Talk About When We Talk About Indicators: Current Approaches to Human Rights Measurement', pp.1062-1097, in *Human Rights Quarterly*, vol.23, no.4, 2001.

Haász, Veronika, 'The Role of National Human Rights Institutions in the Implementation of the UN Guiding Principles', pp.165-187, in *Human Rights Review*, 14, 2013.

Hakimi, Monica, 'State Bystander Responsibility', pp.341-385, in *European Journal of International Law*, vol.21, no.2, 2010.

Harrison, James, 'Establishing a meaningful human rights due diligence process for corporations: learning from experience of human rights impact assessment', pp.107-117, in *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 31:2; 2013.

Ho, Virginia Harper, 'Of Enterprises Principles and Corporate Groups: Does Corporate Law Reach Human Rights?', pp.113-172, in *Columbia Journal of Transnational Law*, 52:113, 2013.

Hristova, Mirela, 'The Alien Tort Statute: A Vehicle for Implementing the United Nations Guiding Principles for Business and Human Rights and Promoting Corporate Social Responsibility', pp.89-108, in *University of San Francisco Law review*, vol.47, 2012.

Isa, Filipe Gómez, 'International Protection of Human Rights', pp.21-48, in Filipe Gómez Isa and Koen de Feyter (eds), *International Human Rights Law in a Global Context*. Bilbao: University of Deusto, 2009.

Jägers, Nicola, Corporate Human Rights Obligations: In Search for Accountability, Mortsel: Intersentia, 2002.

Jägers, Nicola, 'UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights: Making Headway Towards Real Corporate Accountability?', pp. 159-163, in *Netherlands Quarterly of Human Rights*, vol.29/2, 2011.

Jerbi, Scott, 'Business and Human Rights at the UN: What Might Happen Next?', pp.299-320, in *Human Rights Quarterly*, vol.31, no.2, 2009.

Kamatali, Jean-Marie, 'The New Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights' Contribution in ending the divisive debate over Human Rights Responsibilities of companies: is it time for an ICJ advisory Opinion?', pp. 437-463, in *Cardozo Journal of International Law and Comparative Law*, vol.20, 2012.

Kamminga, Menno, Zia Zarifi, Saman (ed.), Liability of Corporations under International Law, The Hague: Kluwer Law International, 2000.

Kemp, Deanna, Vanclay, Frank, 'Human Rights and impact assessment: clarifying the connections in practice', pp.86-96, in *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*,31:2, 2013.

Knox, John, 'Horizontal Human Rights Law', pp. 1-47, in *The American Journal of International Law*, vol.102:1, 2008.

Knox, John H., 'The Ruggie Rules: Applying Human Rights Law to Corporations', available at <a href="http://ssrn.com/abstract=1916664">http://ssrn.com/abstract=1916664</a> (to be published version), 2011.

Künnermann, Rolf, Fourteen misconceptions about extraterritorial human rights obligations, published by the ETO Consortium, 2014, available at <a href="http://www.etoconsortium.org/en/news/detail/release-of-fourteen-misconceptions-about-extraterritorial-human-rights-obligations-47/">http://www.etoconsortium.org/en/news/detail/release-of-fourteen-misconceptions-about-extraterritorial-human-rights-obligations-47/</a> (last consulted 28 June 2014).

Lindsay, Rae, McCorquodale, Robert, Blecher, Lara, Bonnitcha, Jonathan, Crockett, Antony, Sheppard, Audley, 'Human rights responsibilities in the oil and gas sector: applying the UN Guiding Principles', pp. 2-66, in *Journal of World Energy Law and Business*, vol.6, no.1, 2013.

Locke, Richard, Amengual, Matthew, Mangla, Akshay, 'Virtue out of Necessity? Compliance, Commitment and the Improvement of Labor Conditions in Global Supply Chains', pp.319-351, in *Politics and Society*, 37, 2009.

Macdonald, Kate, 'Re-thinking 'Spheres of Responsibility': Business Responsibility for Indirect Harm', pp.549-563, in *Journal of Business Ethics*, 99, 2011.

Macklem, Patrick, 'Corporate Accountability under International Law: The Misguided Quest for Universal Jurisdiction', pp.281-289, in *International Law FORUM du droit international*, 7, 2005.

Mares, Radu, 'The Limits of Supply Chain Responsibility: A Critical Analysis of Corporate Responsibility Instruments', pp.193-244, in *Nordic Journal of International Law*, vol.79, 2010.

Mares, Radu, 'Business and Human Rights After Ruggie: Foundations, the Art of Simplification and the Imperative of Cumulative Progress', pp.1-50, in Radu Mares (ed.), *The UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights – Foundations and Implementation*, Leiden, Boston: Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 2012 [on-line document of the final version of the chapter].

Martin-Ortega, Olga, 'Human Rights Due Diligence for Corporations: from voluntary standards to hard law at last?', pp.44-74, in *Netherlands Quarterly of Human Rights*, vol.31/4, 2013.

Massoud, Sofia, 'Business and Human Rights – Masking Political Power Play?', Paper presented at the LSE Research Workshop on Business and Human Rights – 500 Days After Ruggie: Achievements, Challenges and Opportunities in Business and Human Rights, November 2012.

McCorquodale, Robert, 'Spreading Weeds Beyond Their Garden: Extraterritorial Responsibility of States for Violations of Human Rights by Corporate Nationals', pp.95-102, in *Proceedings of the Annual Meeting (American Society of International Law)*, Vol. 100, 2006.

McCorquodale, Robert, 'Corporate Social Responsibility and International Human Rights Law', pp.385-400, in *Journal of Business Ethics*, 87, 2009.

Meyersfeld, Bonita, 'To Bind or Not to Bind', April 2014, available at <a href="http://www.business-humanrights.org/media/documents/a\_new\_treaty.pdf">http://www.business-humanrights.org/media/documents/a\_new\_treaty.pdf</a> (last consulted 24 June 2014).

Mowbray, Alastair, Cases, Materials and Commentary on the European Convention on Human Rights, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2012.

Muchlinski, Peter, 'Implementing the New UN Corporate Human Rights Framework: Implications for Corporate Law, Governance, and Regulation', pp.145-177, in *Business Ethics Quarterly*, vol.22:1, 2012.

Murray, Odette, Kinley, David, Pitts, Chip, 'Exaggerated Rumours of the Death of an Alien Tort? Corporations, human rights and the remarkable case of Kiobel', pp.1-38, in *Melbourne Journal of International Law*, vol.12, 2011.

Pietropaoli, Irene, 'High tide in Lake Geneva. Business and human rights events at the 26<sup>th</sup> session of the UN Human Rights Council', 27 June 2014, available at: http://business-

<u>humanrights.org/sites/default/files/media/high\_tide\_in\_lake\_geneva.pdf</u> (last consulted 7 July 2014).

Ratner, Steven R, 'Corporations and Human Rights: A Theory of Legal Responsibility', pp. 443-545, in *Yale Law Journal*, vol.111, 2001-2002.

Rees, Caroline 'Pointing the Way Forwards on Non-Financial Reporting', available at: <a href="http://shiftproject.org/article/pointing-way-forwards-non-financial-reporting">http://shiftproject.org/article/pointing-way-forwards-non-financial-reporting</a> (last consulted 26 June 2014).

Ruggie, John G., 'Human Rights Policies and Management Practices of Fortune Global 500 Firms – Results of a Survey", *Working Paper of the Corporate Social Responsibility Initiative*, Working Paper No.28, 2006, available at <a href="http://www.hks.harvard.edu/m-">http://www.hks.harvard.edu/m-</a>

<u>rcbg/CSRI/publications/workingpaper\_28\_ruggie.pdf</u> (last consulted 28 March 2014).

Ruggie, John Gerard, Just Business, New York: W.W. Norton & Company, 2013.

Ruggie, John G., 'A UN Business and Human Rights Treaty? An Issues Brief by John G. Ruggie', 2014, available at <a href="http://www.hks.harvard.edu/m-rcbg/CSRI/UNBusinessandHumanRightsTreaty.pdf">http://www.hks.harvard.edu/m-rcbg/CSRI/UNBusinessandHumanRightsTreaty.pdf</a> (last consulted 7 July 2014).

Seppala, Nina, 'Business and the International Human Rights Regime: A Comparison of UN Initiatives', pp.401-417, in *Journal of Business Ethics*, 87, 2009.

Shelton, Dinah (ed), Commitment and Compliance – The role of Non-Binding Norms in the International Legal System. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000.

Simons, Penelope, 'International law's invisible hand and the future of corporate accountability for violations of human rights', pp.5-43, in *Journal of Human Rights and the Environment*, vol.3, no.1, 2012.

Simons, Penelope; Ruggie, John Gerard; McCorquodale, Robert; Ochoa, Christiana; Greene, Adam B; Misol, Lisa, 'The Future of Corporate Accountability for Violations of Human Rights', pp.281-298, *American Society of International Law. Proceedings of the Annual Meeting*, 2009

Skinner, Gwynne, McCorquodale, Robert, De Schutter, Olivier, Lambe, Andie, "The Third Pillar – Access to Judicial Remedies for Human Rights Violations by Transnational Business", ICAR, CORE and ECCJ, 2013, available at <a href="http://accountabilityroundtable.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/The-Third-Pillar-FINAL1.pdf">http://accountabilityroundtable.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/The-Third-Pillar-FINAL1.pdf</a> (last consulted 7 July 2014).

Taylor, Mark B., *Human Rights Due Diligence: The Role of States* – 2013 *Progress Report*, published by the International Accountability Roundtable, available at <a href="http://accountabilityroundtable.org/analysis/human-rights-due-diligence-2013-update/">http://accountabilityroundtable.org/analysis/human-rights-due-diligence-2013-update/</a> (last consulted 28 June 2014).

Taylor, Mark B., Luc Zandvliet and Mitra Forouhar, 'Due Diligence for Human Rights: A Risk-Based Approach', *Corporate Social Responsibility Initiative Working Paper No. 53*, October 2009, available at <a href="http://www.hks.harvard.edu/m-rcbg/CSRI/publications/workingpaper 53 taylor etal.pdf">http://www.hks.harvard.edu/m-rcbg/CSRI/publications/workingpaper 53 taylor etal.pdf</a> (last consulted 25 June 2014).

Teitelbaum, Alejandro, 'New initiative to end multinational companies impunity – About the proposal to develop a binding international treaty on transnational corporations',

 $\frac{http://www.google.pt/url?sa=t\&rct=j\&q=\&esrc=s\&frm=1\&source=web\&cd=1\&vex=d=0CB4QFjAA\&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.business-d=0CB4QFjAA\&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.business-d=0CB4QFjAA&url=http%3A&url=http$ 

humanrights.org%2Fmedia%2Fdocuments%2Falejandro-teitelbaum-

new\_initiative\_to\_end\_multinational\_companies\_impunity.doc&ei=mqmoU\_u9L 8ii0QXA34CIBQ&usg=AFQjCNGa3l1qWLFc5q5SEAu18Tty-S\_jfQ (last consulted 24 June 2014).

Theuws, Martje, van Huijstee, Mariette, *Corporate Responsibility Instruments - A Comparison of the OECD Guidelines, ISO 26000 & the UN Global Compact*, Amsterdam: SOMO, 2013, available at <a href="http://www.somo.nl/dossiers-en/csr/corporate-responsibility-instruments">http://www.somo.nl/dossiers-en/csr/corporate-responsibility-instruments</a> (last consulted 7 May 2014).

Tully, Stephan (ed.), *International Corporate Legal Responsibility*, The Netherlands: Wolters Kluwer - Law and Business, 2012.

van Huijstee, Mariëtte, Ricco, Victor, Ceresna-Chaturvedi, Laura, *How to use the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights in company research and advocacy - A guide for civil society organizations*, Amsterdam: SOMO, CEDHA, Cividep India, November 2012, available at <a href="http://somo.nl/publications-en/Publication\_3899">http://somo.nl/publications-en/Publication\_3899</a> (last consulted 20 April 2014).

Voiculescu, Aurora, 'Human Rights and the New Corporate Accountability: Learning from Recent Developments in Corporate Criminal Liability', pp.419-432, in *Journal of Business Ethics*, 87, 2009.

Wettstein, Florian, 'CSR and the Debate on Business and Human Rights: Bridging the Great Divide', pp. 739-770, in *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 22:4, 2012.

Wilde, Ralph, 'Human Rights Beyond Borders at the World Court: The Significance of the International Court of Justice's Jurisprudence in the

Extraterritorial Application of International Human Rights Law Treaties', pp.639-677, in *Chinese Journal of International Law*, vol.12(4), 2013.

Wood, Stepan, 'The Case for Leverage-Based Corporate human Rights Responsibility, pp.63-98, in *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 22:1, 2012.

Zerk, Jennifer, 'Corporate liability for gross human rights abuses – Towards a fairer and more effective system of domestic law remedies. A report prepared for the Office of the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights', available at <a href="http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/DomesticLawRemedies/Study">http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/DomesticLawRemedies/Study</a> <a href="http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/DomesticLawRemedies/Study">http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/DomesticLawRemedies/Study</a> <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/DomesticLawRemedies/Study">https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/DomesticLawRemedies/Study</a> <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/DomesticLawRemedies/Study">https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/DomesticLawRemedies/Study</a> <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/DomesticLawRemedies/Study">https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/DomesticLawRemedies/Study</a> <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/DomesticLawRemedies/Study">https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/DomesticLawRemedies/Study</a> <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/DomesticLawRemedies/Study">https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/DomesticLawRemedies/Study</a> <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/DomesticLawRemedies/Study">https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/Documents/Issues/Business/Documents/Issues/Business/Documents/Issues/Business/Documents/Issues/Business

#### Reports and documents of organisations

Amnesty International, *Injustice Incorporated – Corporate abuses and the Human Right to Remedy*, Index no. POL 30/001/2014, March 2014, available at <a href="http://www.amnesty.org/en/library/info/POL30/001/2014/en">http://www.amnesty.org/en/library/info/POL30/001/2014/en</a> (last consulted 10 May 2014).

Business & Human Rights Initiative – Global Compact Network Netherlands, How to Do Business with Respect for Human Rights: A Guidance Tool for Companies, 2010, available at <a href="http://www.unglobalcompact.org/docs/issues\_doc/human\_rights/Resources/how\_t">http://www.unglobalcompact.org/docs/issues\_doc/human\_rights/Resources/how\_t</a> o business with respect for human rights gcn netherlands june2010.pdf (last consulted 4 May 2014).

Castan Centre for Human Rights Law, International Business Leaders Forum, Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, *Human Rights Translated – A Business Reference Guide*, 2008, available at <a href="http://human-rights.unglobalcompact.org/doc/human rights\_translated.pdf">http://human-rights.unglobalcompact.org/doc/human rights\_translated.pdf</a> (last consulted 8 July 2014).

Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, *Statement on the obligations* of states parties regarding the corporate sector and economic, social and cultural rights, E/C.12/2011/1, 12 July 2011, available at

http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/\_layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno =E%2FC.12%2F2011%2F1&Lang=en (last consulted 25 June 2014).

Committee on the Rights of the Child, General Comment 16 (2013) on State obligations regarding the impact of the business sector on children's rights, CRC/C/GC/16, 17 April 2013, available at <a href="http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno">http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/layouts/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno</a> = CRC%2fC%2fGC%2f16&Lang=en (last consulted 27 June 2014).

CORE, Good Business? Analysis of the UK Government Action Plan on Business & Human Rights, December 2013, available at <a href="http://corporate-responsibility.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/GoodBusiness\_COREcommentonUKNAP\_final\_Dec20">http://corporate-responsibility.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/GoodBusiness\_COREcommentonUKNAP\_final\_Dec20</a> <a href="https://corporate-responsibility.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/GoodBusiness\_COREcommentonUKNAP\_final\_Dec20">https://corporate-responsibility.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/GoodBusiness\_COREcommentonUKNAP\_final\_Dec20</a> <a href="https://corporate-responsibility.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/GoodBusiness\_COREcommentonUKNAP\_final\_Dec20">https://corporate-responsibility.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/GoodBusiness\_COREcommentonUKNAP\_final\_Dec20</a> <a href="https://corporate-responsibility.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/GoodBusiness\_COREcommentonUKNAP\_final\_Dec20">https://corporate-responsibility.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/GoodBusiness\_COREcommentonUKNAP\_final\_Dec20</a> <a href="https://corporate-responsibility.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/GoodBusiness\_COREcommentonUKNAP\_final\_Dec20">https://corporate-responsibility.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/GoodBusiness\_COREcommentonUKNAP\_final\_Dec20</a> <a href="https://corporate-responsibility.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/GoodBusiness\_final\_particless-final\_particl

Council of Europe Committee of Ministers, *Declaration of the Committee of Ministers on the UN Guiding Principles on business and human rights*, 16 April 2014, available at <a href="https://wcd.coe.int/ViewDoc.jsp?id=2185745&Site=CM&BackColorInternet=C3">https://wcd.coe.int/ViewDoc.jsp?id=2185745&Site=CM&BackColorInternet=C3</a>
<a href="C3C3&BackColorIntranet=EDB021&BackColorLogged=F5D383">C3C3&BackColorIntranet=EDB021&BackColorLogged=F5D383</a> (last consulted 26 June 2014).

Council of Europe – Steering Committee for Human Rights, *Draft Preliminary Study on Corporate Social Responsibility in the field of Human Rights: Existing Standards and outstanding issues*, June 2012 (a), available at: <a href="http://www.coe.int/t/dghl/standardsetting/cddh/CDDH-">http://www.coe.int/t/dghl/standardsetting/cddh/CDDH-</a>

DOCUMENTS/CDDH 2012 012 en.pdf (last consulted 26 June 2014).

Council of Europe – Steering Committee for Human Rights, *Feasibility Study on Corporate Social Responsibility in the field of Human Rights*, November 2012 (b), available at: <a href="http://www.coe.int/t/dghl/standardsetting/hrpolicy/other\_committees/hr\_and\_business/Documents/CDDH(2012)R76\_AddendumVII\_EN.pdf">http://www.coe.int/t/dghl/standardsetting/hrpolicy/other\_committees/hr\_and\_business/Documents/CDDH(2012)R76\_AddendumVII\_EN.pdf</a> (last consulted 26 June 2014).

Council of Europe Steering Committee for Human Rights – Drafting Group on Human rights and Business, *Meeting Report* – 2<sup>nd</sup> *Meeting 12 February-14 February*, 2014, available at <a href="http://www.coe.int/t/dghl/standardsetting/hrpolicy/other\_committees/hr\_and\_business/Documents/Web\_CDDH-CORP(2014)R2\_en.pdf">http://www.coe.int/t/dghl/standardsetting/hrpolicy/other\_committees/hr\_and\_business/Documents/Web\_CDDH-CORP(2014)R2\_en.pdf</a> (last consulted 25 June 2014).

Dejusticia, Conectas, Justicia Global, 'Working Group on the Issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises: A review of the first two-and-a-half years of work', pp.3-4, November 2013, available at <a href="http://conectas.org/arquivos/editor/files/6">http://conectas.org/arquivos/editor/files/6</a> Dej Con JG WG2years Nov2013.pdf (last consulted 25 June 2014).

European Center for Constitutional and Human Rights, *The responsibility of European corporations for human rights violations abroad: To what extent does corporate due diligence extend to subsidiaries? The Danzer, Nestlé and Lahmeyer cases*, Policy Paper: Due Diligence Obligations, October 2013, available at <a href="http://www.ecchr.de/index.php/publications-592.html">http://www.ecchr.de/index.php/publications-592.html</a> (last consulted 20 March 2014).

European Coalition for Corporate Justice, ECCJ Briefing – Assessment of the EU Directive on the disclosure of non-financial information by certain large companies, May 2014, available at <a href="http://www.globalgovernancewatch.org/docLib/20140618\_ECCJ\_Nonfinancial\_R">http://www.globalgovernancewatch.org/docLib/20140618\_ECCJ\_Nonfinancial\_R</a> eporting.pdf (last consulted 26 June 2014).

European Commission, Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions – A renewed EU strategy 2011-14 for Corporate Social Responsibility, 2011.

FIDH, Briefing Paper – Business and Human Rights: enhancing standards and ensuring redress, 2014, available at <a href="http://www.fidh.org/en/united-nations/human-rights-council/un-human-rights-council-25th-regular-">http://www.fidh.org/en/united-nations/human-rights-council/un-human-rights-council-25th-regular-</a>

session/14899-business-and-human-rights-fidh-calls-on-the-international-community-to (last consulted 28 June 2014).

General Assembly, A/RES/48/134, 20 December 1993, available at: <a href="http://www.un.org/documents/ga/res/48/a48r134.htm">http://www.un.org/documents/ga/res/48/a48r134.htm</a> (last consulted 26 June 2014).

Human Rights Committee, *List of issues in relation to the fourth periodic report of Ireland*, CCPR/C/IRL/Q/4, 22 November 2013, available at <a href="http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/layouts/TreatyBodyExternal/SessionDetails1.aspx?SessionID=624&Lang=en">http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/layouts/TreatyBodyExternal/SessionDetails1.aspx?SessionID=624&Lang=en</a> (last consulted 29 June 2014).

Human Rights Council, "Business and Human Rights: Mapping International Standards of Responsibility and Accountability for Corporate Acts" – Report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises, A/HRC/4/035, 9 February 2007, available at: <a href="http://www.business-humanrights.org/SpecialRepPortal/Home/ReportstoUNHumanRightsCouncil/200">http://www.business-humanrights.org/SpecialRepPortal/Home/ReportstoUNHumanRightsCouncil/200</a> 7 (last consulted 15 May 2014).

Human Rights Council, Report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises — Addendum - State responsibilities to regulate and adjudicate corporate activities under the United Nations core human rights treaties: an overview of treaty body commentaries, A/HRC/4/35/Add.1, 13 February 2007, available at <a href="http://daccess-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G07/108/52/PDF/G0710852.pdf?OpenElement">http://daccess-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G07/108/52/PDF/G0710852.pdf?OpenElement</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014).

Human Rights Council, *Protect, Respect and Remedy: a Framework for Business and Human Rights Report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises, John Ruggie, A/HRC/8/5, 7 April 2008, available at <a href="http://www.refworld.org/docid/484d2d5f2.html">http://www.refworld.org/docid/484d2d5f2.html</a> (last consulted 8 July 2014).* 

Human Rights Council, A/HRC/RES/17/4, 6 July 2011, available at <a href="http://daccess-dds-">http://daccess-dds-</a>

ny.un.org/doc/RESOLUTION/GEN/G11/144/71/PDF/G1114471.pdf?OpenElement (last consulted 25 June 2014).

Human Rights Council, Contribution of the United Nations system as a whole to the advancement of the business and human rights agenda and the dissemination and implementation of the Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights – Report of the Secretay-General, A/HRC/21/21, 2 July 2012, available at <a href="http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/HRCouncil/RegularSession/Session21/A-HRC-21-21\_en.pdf">http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/HRBodies/HRCouncil/RegularSession/Session21/A-HRC-21-21\_en.pdf</a> (last consulted 24 June 2014).

Human Rights Council, Report of the Working Group on the issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises, A/HRC/23/32, 14 March 2013, available at <a href="http://www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/Business/Pages/Reports.aspx">http://www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/Business/Pages/Reports.aspx</a> (last consulted 7 July 2014).

Human Rights Council, *Report of the Working Group on the issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises*, A/HRC/26/25, 5 May 2014, available at <a href="http://www.refworld.org/docid/53a28ea54.html">http://www.refworld.org/docid/53a28ea54.html</a> (last consulted 29 June 2014).

Institute for Human Rights and Business, *The "State of Play" of Human Rights Due Diligence – Anticipating the next five years – Volume One: General Overview*, ISBN: 978-1-908405-03-6, 2011, available at <a href="http://www.ihrb.org/pdf/The State of Play of Human Rights Due Diligence.p">http://www.ihrb.org/pdf/The State of Play of Human Rights Due Diligence.p</a> df (last consulted 28 July 2014).

Institute for Business and Human Rights and Global Business Initiative on HR, State of Play – The Corporate Responsibility to Respect Human Rights in Business Relationships, 2012, available at <a href="http://www.ihrb.org/publications/reports/state-of-play.html">http://www.ihrb.org/publications/reports/state-of-play.html</a> (last consulted 10 May 2014).

Institute for Human Rights and Business, *State of Play – Human Rights in the Political Economy of States: Avenues for Application*, ISBN: 978-1-908405-17-3, 2014, available at <a href="http://www.ihrb.org/pdf/2014-03-18">http://www.ihrb.org/pdf/2014-03-18</a> State-of-Play\_HR-Political-Economy-States.pdf (last consulted 8 July 2014).

International Accountability Roundtable, 'Third Annual Meeting of the International Corporate Accountability Roundtable', 2013, available at <a href="http://accountabilityroundtable.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/ICAR-Third-Annual-Meeting-Report.pdf">http://accountabilityroundtable.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/ICAR-Third-Annual-Meeting-Report.pdf</a> (last consulted 21 June 2014).

International Commission of Jurists, *Needs and Options for a New International instrument in the Field of Business and Human Rights*, June 2014, available at <a href="http://icj.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-">http://icj.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-</a>

<u>content/uploads/2014/06/NeedsandOptionsinternationalinst\_ICJReportFinalelecvers.compressed.pdf</u> (last consulted 21 June 2014).

International Coordination Committee of National Institutions for the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights Working Group on Business and Human Rights, Business and Human Rights 101: A National Human Rights Institution Primer, available at <a href="http://nhri.ohchr.org/EN/ICC/BureauMeeting/052013/Item%207%20Sub%20Committee%20on%20Accreditation%20Report/BHR%20101%20Fact%20Sheet%20-%20English%20PDF.pdf">http://nhri.ohchr.org/EN/ICC/BureauMeeting/052013/Item%207%20Sub%20Committee%20on%20Accreditation%20Report/BHR%20101%20Fact%20Sheet%20-%20English%20PDF.pdf</a> (last consulted 24 June 2014).

International Labour Organisation, *Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy*, available at: <a href="http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed emp/---emp ent/---multi/documents/publication/wcms\_094386.pdf">http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed emp/---emp ent/---multi/documents/publication/wcms\_094386.pdf</a> (last consulted 3 May 2014).

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, *Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises*, 2011, available at <a href="http://www.oecd.org/daf/inv/mne/48004323.pdf">http://www.oecd.org/daf/inv/mne/48004323.pdf</a> (last consulted 24 May 2014).

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises – Responsible Business Conduct Matters, 2014,

available at <a href="http://mneguidelines.oecd.org/MNEguidelines\_RBCmatters.pdf">http://mneguidelines.oecd.org/MNEguidelines\_RBCmatters.pdf</a> (last consulted 5 May 2014).

OECD Watch, Calling for Corporate Accountability: A Guide to the 2011 OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, ISBN: 978-94-6207-011-0, 2013, available at <a href="http://oecdwatch.org/publications-en/Publication\_3962">http://oecdwatch.org/publications-en/Publication\_3962</a> (last consulted 5 May 2014).

OHCHR, Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights – Implementing the United Nations Protecting, Respect and Remedy Framework, HR/PUB/11/04, 2011, available at <a href="http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR">http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR</a> EN <a href="http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR">http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR</a> EN <a href="http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR">http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR</a> EN <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR">http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR</a> EN <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR">https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR</a> EN <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR">https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/Publicat

OHCHR, The Corporate Responsibility To Respect Human Rights - An Interpretive Guide, HR/PUB/12/02, 2012, available at <a href="http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/RtRInterpretativeGuide.pdf">http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/RtRInterpretativeGuide.pdf</a> (last consulted 24 June 2014).

OHCHR, Human Rights Indicators – A Guide to Measurement and Implementation, HR/PUB/12/5, 2012, available at <a href="http://www.ohchr.org/EN/PUBLICATIONSRESOURCES/Pages/RecentPublicati">http://www.ohchr.org/EN/PUBLICATIONSRESOURCES/Pages/RecentPublicati</a> ons.aspx (last consulted 29 June 2014).

OHCHR, *The United Nations Human Rights Treaty System – Fact Sheet No.30/Rev.1*, 2012, available at <a href="http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/FactSheet30Rev1.pdf">http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/FactSheet30Rev1.pdf</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014).

Shift and Institute for Human Rights and Business, *ICT Sector Guide on Implementing the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights*, June 2013, available at <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sustainable-business/files/csr-sme/csr-ict-hr-business\_en.pdf">http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sustainable-business/files/csr-sme/csr-ict-hr-business\_en.pdf</a> (last consulted 24 June 2014).

Shift and Institute for Human Rights and Business, Oil and Gas Sector Guide on Implementing the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, June 2013, available at <a href="http://www.ihrb.org/pdf/eu-sector-guidance/EC-Guides/O&G/EC-Guide\_O&G-02\_Cover.pdf">http://www.ihrb.org/pdf/eu-sector-guidance/EC-Guides/O&G/EC-Guide\_O&G-02\_Cover.pdf</a> (last consulted 24 June 2014).

Shift, *Implications of the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights for the Fair Labor Association*, 2012, available at <a href="http://shiftproject.org/sites/default/files/Implications%20of%20the%20UN%20Guiding%20Principles%20on%20Business%20and%20Human%20Rights%20for%20the%20Fair%20Labor%20Association\_4.pdf">http://shiftproject.org/sites/default/files/Implications%20of%20the%20UN%20Guiding%20Principles%20on%20Business%20and%20Human%20Rights%20for%20the%20Fair%20Labor%20Association\_4.pdf</a> (last consulted 13 May 2014).

Shift, Respecting Human Rights through Global Supply Chains - Shift Workshop Report No. 2, October 2012, available at <a href="http://www.shiftproject.org/publication/respecting-human-rights-through-global-supply-chains-shift-workshop-report-no-2">http://www.shiftproject.org/publication/respecting-human-rights-through-global-supply-chains-shift-workshop-report-no-2</a> (last consulted 13 May 2014).

Sub-Commission on the Protection and Promotion of Human Rights, *Norms on the responsibilities of transnational corporations and other business enterprises with regard to human rights*, E/CN.4/Sub.2/2003/12/Ver.2, 26 August 2003, available at: <a href="http://daccess-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G03/160/08/PDF/G0316008.pdf">http://daccess-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G03/160/08/PDF/G0316008.pdf</a>?OpenElement (last consulted 8 July 2014).

The Kenan Institute for Ethics at Duke University, *The U.N. Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights Analysis and Implementation*, 2012, available at: <a href="http://kenan.ethics.duke.edu/humanrights/resources/u-n-guiding-principles-on-business-and-human-rights/">http://kenan.ethics.duke.edu/humanrights/resources/u-n-guiding-principles-on-business-and-human-rights/</a> (last consulted 28 June 2014).

United Nations Global Compact, *Building the Post-2015 Business Engagement Architecture*, 2013, available at <a href="http://www.unglobalcompact.org/docs/about\_the\_gc/Architecture.pdf">http://www.unglobalcompact.org/docs/about\_the\_gc/Architecture.pdf</a> (last consulted 8 May 2014).

United Nations Global Compact, *Embedding Human Rights in Business Practice IV*, 2013, available at <a href="http://www.unglobalcompact.org/resources/401">http://www.unglobalcompact.org/resources/401</a> (last consulted 8 May 2014).

United Nations Global Compact, *Global Corporate Sustainability Report 2013*, 2013, available at

http://www.unglobalcompact.org/AboutTheGC/global\_corporate\_sustainability\_r eport.html (last consulted 8 May 2014).

United Nations Global Compact, *Corporate Sustainability in the World Economy*, 2014, available at <a href="http://www.unglobalcompact.org/resources/240">http://www.unglobalcompact.org/resources/240</a> (last consulted 8 May 2014).

#### Other resources

European Court of Human Rights, 'Factsheet – Companies: victims or culprits', March 2013, available at: <a href="http://www.echr.coe.int/Documents/FS Companies ENG.pdf">http://www.echr.coe.int/Documents/FS Companies ENG.pdf</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014).

European Court of Human Rights, Young James and Webster v. The United Kingdom, 13 August 1981, available at <a href="http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng/pages/search.aspx?i=001-57608#{"itemid":["001-57608"]}</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014).

European Court of Human Rights, Taskin and Otehrs v. Turkey, 30 March 2005, available at <a href="http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng/pages/search.aspx?i=001-67401#{"itemid":["001-67401"]}">http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng/pages/search.aspx?i=001-67401#{"itemid":["001-67401"]}</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014).

European Court of Human Rights, Tatar v. Romania, 6 July 2009, available at <a href="http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/fra/pages/search.aspx?i=001-90909">http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/fra/pages/search.aspx?i=001-90909</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014).

European Court of Human Rights, Kalender v. Turkey, 15 March 2010, available at <a href="http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng-press/pages/search.aspx?i=001-96252">http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng-press/pages/search.aspx?i=001-96252</a> (last consulted 6 May 2014).

Esdaile, Chris, 'Does the world need a treaty on business and human rights?', May 2014, available at <a href="http://www.business-">http://www.business-</a>

<u>humanrights.org/media/documents/chris\_esdaile\_(leigh\_day).pdf</u> (last\_consulted 24 June 2014).

European Parliament, 'European Parliament legislative resolution of 15 April 2014 on the proposal for a directive of the European Parliament and of the Council amending Council Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC as regards disclosure of non-financial and diversity information by certain large companies and groups (COM(2013)0207 – C7-0103/2013 – 2013/0110(COD))', document P7\_TA-PROV(2014)04-15, 15 April 2014.

Maastricht Principles on Extraterritorial Obligations of States in the Area of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, 2011, published by the ETO Consortium, available at <a href="http://www.etoconsortium.org/en/library/maastricht-principles/">http://www.etoconsortium.org/en/library/maastricht-principles/</a> (last consulted 28 June 2014).

Republic of Ecuador, 'Statement on behalf of a Group of Countries at the 24th Session of the Human Rights Council', September 2013, available at: <a href="http://business-humanrights.org/media/documents/statement-unhrc-legally-binding.pdf">http://business-humanrights.org/media/documents/statement-unhrc-legally-binding.pdf</a> (last consulted 23 June 2014).

Statement from Stavros Lambrinidis, EU Special Representative on Human Rights at the first UN Business and Human Rights Forum, December 2012, available at <a href="http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/ForumSession1/SubmissionsSt">http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Business/ForumSession1/SubmissionsSt</a> atements/StavrosLambrinidis.pdf (last consulted 25 June 2014).

Statement of the European Union at the second UN Business and Human Rights Forum, December 2013, available at <a href="http://eeas.europa.eu/delegations/un\_geneva/documents/eu\_statments/human\_righty/2013-1203\_forum\_buz\_hr-panel-i.pdf">http://eeas.europa.eu/delegations/un\_geneva/documents/eu\_statments/human\_righty/2013-1203\_forum\_buz\_hr-panel-i.pdf</a> (last consulted 25 June 2014).

#### Internet

- <a href="http://www.iso.org/iso/home/standards/iso26000.htm">http://www.iso.org/iso/home/standards/iso26000.htm</a> (last consulted 2 May 2014).
- <a href="http://www.oecd.org/daf/inv/mne/ncps.htm">http://www.oecd.org/daf/inv/mne/ncps.htm</a> (last consulted 26 June 2014).
- http://www.ilo.org/empent/Publications/WCMS\_094386/lang-en/index.htm (last consulted 3 May 2014).
- <a href="http://www.ilo.org/empent/Informationresources/WCMS\_101251/lang-en/index.htm">http://www.ilo.org/empent/Informationresources/WCMS\_101251/lang-en/index.htm</a> (last consulted 3 May 2014).
- <a href="http://www.unglobalcompact.org/ParticipantsAndStakeholders/index.html">http://www.unglobalcompact.org/ParticipantsAndStakeholders/index.html</a>
   (last consulted 3 May 2014).
- <a href="http://www.unglobalcompact.org/AboutTheGC/faq.html">http://www.unglobalcompact.org/AboutTheGC/faq.html</a> (last consulted 24 May 2014).
- <a href="http://www.unglobalcompact.org/Issues/human\_rights/">http://www.unglobalcompact.org/Issues/human\_rights/</a> (last consulted 3 May 2014).
- http://blogs.lse.ac.uk/businesshumanrights/ (last consulted 29 June 2014).
- http://www.businesshumanrights.org/media/documents/mb&hr\_list\_of\_initiatives\_featuring\_in dicators\_15\_may\_2014.pdf (last consulted 29 June 2014).
- http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/fra/pages/search.aspx?i=003-2615810-2848789#{"itemid":["003-2615810-2848789"]} (last consulted 6 May 2014).
- http://hudoc.echr.coe.int/sites/eng-press/pages/search.aspx?i=003-2969271-3269606#{"itemid":["003-2969271-3269606"]} (last consulted 6 May 2014).
- <a href="http://business-humanrights.org/en/binding-treaty-pros-and-cons">http://business-humanrights.org/en/binding-treaty-pros-and-cons</a> (last consulted 7 July 2014).

- <a href="http://www.ipsnews.net/2014/06/after-losing-vote-u-s-eu-threaten-to-undermine-treaty/">http://www.ipsnews.net/2014/06/after-losing-vote-u-s-eu-threaten-to-undermine-treaty/</a> (last consulted 12 July 2014)
- <a href="http://business-bumanrights.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/cawg\_statement\_re\_u">http://business-bumanrights.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/cawg\_statement\_re\_u</a>
   <a href="http://business-bumanrights.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/cawg\_statement\_re\_u</a>
   <a href="http://business-bumanrights.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/cawg\_statement\_re\_u</a>
   <a href="http://business-bumanrights.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/cawg\_statement\_re\_u</a>
   <a href="http://business-bumanrights.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/cawg\_statement\_re\_u</a>
   <a href="http://business-bumanrights.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/cawg\_statement\_re\_u</a>
   <a href="http://business-bumanrights.org/s
- http://www.csrwire.com/blog/posts/1417-treaties-the-un-guidingprinciples-on-business-human-rights-the-way-forward (last consulted 12 July 2014).
- <a href="http://www.ihrb.org/commentary/board/past-as-prologue.html#\_edn5">http://www.ihrb.org/commentary/board/past-as-prologue.html#\_edn5</a> (last consulted 12 July 2014)
- https://geneva.usmission.gov/2014/06/26/proposed-working-group-would-undermine-efforts-to-implement-guiding-principles-on-business-and-human-rights/ (last consulted 12 July 2014).